
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

NOTICE OF PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, FORT BEND 
COUNTY, TEXAS, WILL MEET IN REGULAR SESSION OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AS FOLLOWS: 
 

DATE:   Wednesday, August 20, 2014 
 

TIME:   4:00 p.m. 
 

PLACE:  Rosenberg City Hall 
City Hall Council Chamber 
2110 4th Street 
Rosenberg, Texas 77471 

  
PURPOSE:  Rosenberg Planning Commission Meeting 

  
Call to order: Council Chamber 

AGENDA 

1. Consideration of and action on Regular Planning Commission Meeting minutes for June 18, 2014, and July 16, 2014. 
(LeLaurin) 

2. Consideration of and action on a Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication, being a subdivision of 
2.3580 acres out of the Robert E. Handy Survey, A-187, in the City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas (Fort 
Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 144); 0 lots, 0 blocks, 0 reserves. (Tanner) 

3. Consideration of and action on a Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two, being a subdivision of 15.59 acres out 
of the Wm. Lusk Survey, A-276, in Fort Bend County, Texas (Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 158); 46 
lots, 2 blocks, 4 reserves (4.2975 acres). (Tanner) 

4. Consideration of and action on a Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B, a subdivision of 8.333 acres of 
land located in the S.A. Stone Survey No. 10, A-392, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas; Lots:  44; 
Reserves:  1; Blocks:  4. (Tanner) 

5. Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B, a subdivision of 8.333 acres of land 
located in the S.A. Stone Survey No. 10, A-392, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas; Lots:  44; Reserves:  1; 
Blocks:  4. (Tanner) 

6. Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three, a subdivision of 8.670 acres of land 
located in the James Lowery 1/3 League, A-275, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas; also being a partial 
replat of Reserve “A-2”, Block 1, Bayou Crossing Section Two Partial Replat No. One recorded at Plat No. 20130258, 
F.B.C.P.R., and a partial replat of Lots 3 and 4, J. M. Donley Subdivision recorded at Vol. 1, Pg. 20, F.B.C.P.R. 
(Tanner) 

7. Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven, a subdivision of 8.924 acres 
of land situated in the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 35 lots, 0 reserves, 3 blocks. 
(Tanner) 

8. Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve, a subdivision of 8.522 acres 
of land situated in the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 34 lots, 0 reserves, 2 blocks. 
(Tanner) 

9. Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen, a subdivision of 19.476 
acres of land situated in the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 88 lots, 3 reserves (1.031 
acres), 3 blocks. (Tanner) 

10. Hear and discuss a presentation by J. B. Granada Construction regarding a potential multi-family Planned Unit 
Development, and take action as necessary to direct staff. (Tanner) 

11. Hear and discuss a presentation by GSSW Real Estate Investments regarding a potential multi-family Planned Unit 
Development, and take action as necessary to direct staff. (Tanner) 

12. Consideration of and action on Exhibit C – Third Revision, a Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation, being 
448.62 acres of land out of the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas. (Tanner) 



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

13. Consideration of and action on a recommendation to City Council regarding a Development Agreement with Dry 
Creek (Houston) ASLI VII, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in association with Fort Bend County 
Municipal Utility District No. 184. (Tanner) 

14. Consideration of and action on a General Plan of Stonecreek Estates, being 502.6 acres of land out of the Wiley 
Martin Survey, A-56, E.P. Everett Survey, A-387, Fort Bend County, Texas. (Tanner) 

15. Consideration of and action on the Staff Report of Current Activities and Requests for Future Agenda Items. (Tanner) 

16. Announcements. 

17. Adjournment. 
 
The Planning Commission reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time during the course of 
this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas Government Code, Section 
551.071 (Consultation with Attorney). 
 

[EXECUTION PAGE TO FOLLOW] 
 



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 

 
DATED AND POSTED this the ___________ day of ______________________ 2014, at _____________ m. by  

 
____________________________________. 

 
 

____________________________________________ 
Attest:       
Linda Cernosek, TRMC, City Secretary   
 
 
___________________________________________ 
Approved for Posting:   
Robert Gracia, City Manager 

 
 

Reasonable accommodation for the disabled attending this meeting will be available; persons with disabilities in 
need of special assistance at the meeting should contact the City Secretary at (832) 595-3340.   



ITEM 1 
 

Minutes: 
 

1. Regular Planning Commission Meeting Minutes for June 18, 2014. 
2. Regular Planning Commission Meeting Minutes for July 16, 2014. 



 
Page 1 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
***DRAFT*** 

 
On this the 18th day of June 2014, the Planning Commission of the City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas met in a 
regular meeting at the Rosenberg City Hall Council Chamber, 2110 4th Street, Rosenberg, Texas 77471. 
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT 
 Pete Pavlovsky    Planning Commission Chairperson 
 Lester Phipps, Jr.   Planning Commission Vice Chairperson 
 Wayne Poldrack   Planning Commission Secretary 
 James Urbish    Planning Commissioner 
 
COMMISSIONERS ABSENT 
 Alicia Casias    Planning Commissioner 
 Mike Parsons    Planning Commissioner 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
 Cynthia McConathy   Councilor, At Large Position Two 
 Travis Tanner    Executive Director of Community Development 
 Charles Kalkomey   City Engineer 
 Lora Lenzsch    City Attorney 
 Renée LeLaurin    Secretary II 
 
GUESTS PRESENT 
 Tracy M. Youngblood   Brown & Gay Engineers, Inc. (Bayou Crossing)  
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
Chairperson Pavlovsky called the meeting to order at 4:02 p.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON MINUTES OF THE MAY 21, 2014 REGULAR PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING. 
 
Action Taken:  Vice Chairperson Phipps moved, seconded by Commissioner Poldrack, to approve the minutes of 
the May 21, 2014 Regular Planning Commission Meeting as written.  The motion carried unanimously by those 
present. 
 

2. HOLD PUBLIC HEARING ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF BAYOU CROSSING SECTION THREE, A 
SUBDIVISION OF 8.670 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED IN THE JAMES LOWERY 1/3 LEAGUE, A-275, CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS, ALSO BEING A PARTIAL REPLAT OF RESERVE “A-2”, 
BLOCK 1, BAYOU CROSSING SECTION TWO PARTIAL REPLAT NO. ONE, RECORDED AT PLAT NO. 
20130258, F.B.C.P.R., AND A PARTIAL REPLAT OF LOTS 3 & 4, J.M. DONLEY SUBDIVISION RECORDED AT 
VOL. 1, PG, 20, F.B.C.P.R. 
 
Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three is located off of Grand Cane Lane in the 
northeast part of Bayou Crossing, located in the northeast corner of Louise Street and Airport Avenue.  The Plat consists of 
8.67 acres and thirty-seven (37) residential lots.  The proposed Plat is in not in conflict with the approved Land Plan dated 
September 2004. 
 
The Plat also constitutes a partial replat of Reserve “A-2” of Block 1 of Bayou Crossing Section Two Partial Replat 
No. One.  The Plat is in compliance with all requirements; however, due to it being a replat, a public hearing is 
required per the Chapter 212 of the Texas Local Government Code and the “Subdivision” Ordinance. 
 
Chairperson Pavlovsky opened the public hearing at 4:03 p.m.  After three calls for speakers, no one 
stepped forward.  Chairperson Pavlovsky closed the public hearing at 4:03 p.m. 



 
Page 2 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 

 

 
3. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF BAYOU CROSSING SECTION THREE, A 

SUBDIVISION OF 8.670 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED IN THE JAMES LOWERY 1/3 LEAGUE, A-275, CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS, ALSO BEING A PARTIAL REPLAT OF RESERVE “A-2”, 
BLOCK 1, BAYOU CROSSING SECTION TWO PARTIAL REPLAT NO. ONE, RECORDED AT PLAT NO. 
20130258, F.B.C.P.R., AND A PARTIAL REPLAT OF LOTS 3 & 4, J.M. DONLEY SUBDIVISION RECORDED AT 
VOL. 1, PG, 20, F.B.C.P.R. 
 
Executive Summary:  As discussed in the previous Agenda item, the Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three is 
located off of Grand Cane Lane in the northeast part of Bayou Crossing, located in the northeast corner of Louise Street 
and Airport Avenue.  The Plat consists of 8.67 acres and thirty-seven (37) residential lots.  The proposed Plat is not in 
conflict with the approved Land Plan dated September 2004.  In fact, the Land Plan, which is attached for reference, 
provides for fifty- and sixty-foot lots in this location.  However, the proposed Plat provides for all sixty-foot lots in accordance 
with current regulations. 
 
Because the Plat constitutes a partial replat of Reserve “A-2” of Block 1 of Bayou Crossing Section Two Partial 
Replat No. One, a public hearing was held per State law and the “Subdivision” Ordinance.  There being no issues, 
staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 
 
Action Taken:  Commissioner Urbish moved, seconded by Commissioner Poldrack, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Bayou Crossing Section Three, a subdivision of 8.670 acres of land located in the James Lowery 1/3 League, A-
275, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas, also being a partial replat of Reserve “A-2”, Block 1, Bayou 
Crossing Section Two Partial Replat No. One, recorded at Plat No. 20130258, F.B.C.P.R., and a partial replat of 
Lots 3 & 4, J. M. Donley Subdivision recorded at Vol. 1, Pg. 20, F.B.C.P.R.  The motion carried unanimously by 
those present. 
 

4. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF BONBROOK PLANTATION NORTH 
SECTION THIRTEEN, A SUBDIVISION OF 19.476 ACRES OF LAND SITUATED IN THE WILEY MARTIN 
LEAGUE, ABSTRACT 56, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS; 88 LOTS, 3 RESERVES (1.031 ACRES), 3 BLOCKS. 
 
Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen is located off of Reading Road, 
adjacent to Bridlewood Estates, in the east central part of Bonbrook Plantation.  The proposed Plat contains 19.476 acres, 
88 residential lots, and three (3) reserves consisting of 1.031 acres. 
 
The proposed lots are a minimum of fifty feet (50’) in width and 6,000 square feet in size.  This is in accordance with the 
approved Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation, which calls for fifty-foot (50’) lots in this location of the development.  The 
Land Plan is attached for reference. 
 
The proposed Preliminary Plat is not in conflict with any applicable regulations.  Staff recommends approval of the 
Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 
 
Action Taken:  Commissioner Poldrack moved, seconded by Commission Phipps, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen, a subdivision of 19.476 acres of land situated in the Wiley Martin 
League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 88 lots, 3 reserves (1.031 acres), 3 blocks.  The motion carried 
unanimously by those present. 
 

5. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUMMER LAKES SECTION SEVEN, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION OF 23.94 ACRES OUT OF THE W.M. LUSK SURVEY, A-276, IN THE CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, IN FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS (FORT BEND COUNTY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 
144); 53 LOTS, 5 BLOCKS, 10 RESERVES (7.4627 ACRES). 
 
Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Seven is located off of Reading Road and Round 
Lake Drive in the eastern portion of the Summer Lakes development.  The Plat consists of 23.94 acres, 53 residential lots, 
and ten (10) reserves containing 7.4627 acres. 
 



 
Page 3 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 

 

The proposed Plat contains 21 sixty-foot (60’) lots and 32 seventy-foot (70’) lots.  The Plat complies with the Development 
Agreement and approved Land Plan for Fort Bend County MUD No. 144.  The Land Plan, which is attached for reference, 
identifies the area of the Plat as single-family residential development.  The Development Agreement calls for a minimum 
lot width of fifty feet (50’) and minimum size of 6,000 square feet.  All proposed lots comfortably meet these requirements. 
 
The Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Seven is not in conflict with any applicable regulations or with the 
Development Agreement for Fort Bend County MUD No. 144.  There being no issues, staff recommends approval of 
the Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Seven. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 
 
Action Taken:  Commissioner Phipps moved, seconded by Commissioner Urbish, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Summer Lakes Section Seven, being a subdivision of 23.94 acres out of the W.M. Lusk Survey, A-276, in the City 
of Rosenberg, in Fort Bend County, Texas (Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 144); 53 lots, 5 blocks, 10 
reserves (7.4627 acres). 
 

6. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUMMER LAKES SECTION EIGHT, BEING 
A SUBDIVISION OF 8.5738 ACRES OUT OF THE W.M. LUSK SURVEY, A-276 AND THE JANE LONG LEAGUE, 
A-55, IN THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, IN FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS (FORT BEND COUNTY MUNICIPAL 
UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 144); 36 LOTS, 2 BLOCKS, 1 RESERVE (0.5214 ACRE). 
 
Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Eight is located off of Lake Commons and Blue 
Lake Drives in the south central portion of the Summer Lakes development.  The Plat consists of 8.57 acres, 36 residential 
lots, and one (1) reserve containing 0.5 acres. 
 
All proposed lots are a minimum of sixty feet (60’) in width as measured at the front building line.  The Plat complies with 
the Development Agreement and approved Land Plan for Fort Bend County MUD No. 144.  The Land Plan, which is 
attached for reference, identifies the area of the Plat as single-family residential development.  The Development 
Agreement calls for a minimum lot width of fifty feet (50’) and minimum size of 6,000 square feet.  All proposed lots meet 
these requirements. 
 
The Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Eight is not in conflict with any applicable regulations or with the 
Development Agreement for Fort Bend County MUD No. 144.  There being no issues, staff recommends approval of 
the Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Eight. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 
 
Action Taken:  Commissioner Urbish moved, seconded by Commissioner Poldrack, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Summer Lakes Section Eight, being a subdivision of 8.5738 acres out of the W.M. Lusk Survey, A-276 and the 
Jane Long League, A-55, in the City of Rosenberg, in Fort Bend County, Texas (Fort Bend County Municipal Utility 
District No. 144); 36 lots, 2 blocks, 1 reserve (0.5214 acre).  The motion carried unanimously by those present. 
 

7. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUMMER PARK SECTION TWO, BEING A 
SUBDIVISION OF 16.479 ACRES OUT OF THE ROBERT E. HANDY SURVEY, A-187, IN THE CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS (FORT BEND COUNTY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 
144): 64 LOTS, 3 BLOCKS, 3 RESERVES (0.6726 ACRE). 
 
Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Summer Park Section Two is located off of Park Place Boulevard in the 
southwest portion of the Summer Park development.  The Plat consists of 16.479 acres, 64 residential lots, and three (3) 
reserves containing 0.67 acres. 
 
All proposed lots are a minimum of sixty feet (60’) in width as measured at the front building line.  The Plat complies with 
the Development Agreement and approved Land Plan for Fort Bend County MUD No. 144.  The Land Plan, which is 
attached for reference, identifies the area of the plat as single-family residential development.  The Development 
Agreement calls for a minimum lot width of fifty feet (50’) and minimum size of 6,000 square feet.  All proposed lots meet 
these requirements. 
 
The Preliminary Plat of Summer Park Section Two is not in conflict with any applicable regulations or with the 
Development Agreement for Fort Bend County MUD No. 144.  There being no issues, staff recommends approval of 



 
Page 4 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 

 

the Preliminary Plat of Summer Park Section Two. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 
 
Action Taken: Commissioner Poldrack moved, seconded by Commissioner Phipps, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Summer Park Section Two, being a subdivision of 16.479 acres out of the Robert E. Handy Survey, A-187, in the 
City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas (Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 144); 64 lots, 3 blocks, 
3 reserves (0.6726 acre). The motion carried unanimously by those present. 
 

8. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE PARKING LOT STANDARDS 
AND SPECIFICATIONS REGARDING PARKING OF VEHICLES IN RESIDENTIAL FRONT YARDS AND 
OUTSIDE DISPLAY OF MERCHANDISE. 
 
Executive Summary:  On April 22, 2014, City Council discussed possible regulations prohibiting long-term parking in 
residential yards and restricting the outside display of merchandise in commercial areas.  After some discussion, the 
consensus of City Council was to present the item to the Planning Commission for your review and recommendation. 
 
To address these issues, Councilors requested that staff look at ordinances such as that of the City of Sugar Land.  Sugar 
Land’s Zoning Ordinance pertaining to their General Business (B-2) District provides for the following: 

• Merchandise cannot be located on public property, in a required yard/setback, or in a required parking space. 
• It cannot be displayed outside for more than 30 consecutive days or a total of 90 days in one (1) calendar year. 
• It must be owned by the owner or lessee of the property. 
• It cannot occupy an area greater than 10% of the area of the building or tenant space (the 10% restriction does not 

apply to landscaping materials in a fenced area). 
 
It is important to keep in mind that certain items (e.g., landscaping materials, vehicles) should be exempted from this type of 
requirement.  If not, it is anticipated that a similar ordinance would affect many existing businesses.  The attached potential 
ordinance amendments exempt certain items.  In order to avoid unintended consequences, other possible exemptions 
could be recommended by the Planning Commission.  At the May 21, 2014 Planning Commission meeting, City staff 
discussed exempting tire sales and motorized equipment from the provisions of the ordinance.  Those recommendations 
are incorporated in the attached ordinance amendments. 
 
Also included in the ordinance amendments is a provision that would require parking of vehicles in residential areas to be 
on a paved surface, except in instances where an unimproved or gravel surface was in existence prior to the effective date 
of the ordinance.  We believe that an exception is necessary for existing lots with unimproved drives due to the large 
number in existence in the City.   
 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval to City Council of the proposed ordinance 
amendments.  If recommended by the Planning Commission, this item will be placed on a future City Council 
Agenda. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 
• Vice Chairperson Phipps inquired if the ownership clause is to prohibit consignment shops from displaying 

items. 
• Mr. Tanner replied that anyone that is not an owner or lessee tenant, would not be able to display items.  

Only the property owner and or the tenant may display items for sale that they themselves own. 
• Chairperson Pavlovsky stated that he reviewed the proposed amendments and was looking for something 

that prohibits on-street parking.  He likes the ordinance but does not wish to add to the on-street parking 
issue.   

• Mr. Tanner replied that there would be some Code Enforcement ramifications for these amendments.  It will 
need to be looked at carefully to prevent any unintended consequences.  Staff attempted to include an 
exemption similar to Sugar Land for the folks that currently have unimproved driveways.  The City would not 
force them to pave their driveways if they are currently unimproved.  But if they park in the front yard in the 
grass, these amendments have the potential to push those cars into the street. 

• Chairperson Pavlovsky inquired how City Council feels about this issue.   
• Councilor McConathy replied that Council is struggling with the same issue.  There are some areas, such as 

8th Street, where parking in the street creates a real safety issue.  There is also Greenwood Subdivision 
where there already is an issue with on-street parking.   

• Mr. Tanner replied that the discussion at the time was to divide up the City into areas where this would apply 



 
Page 5 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 

 

and not apply and that will take a good deal of time to research it.  
• Commissioner Urbish stated that in areas such as Lawrence Street where the streets are wide, he would 

prefer to see them park in the street than in their yards but areas like Greenwood would need to be 
exempted.  Perhaps it could be written to apply to areas with a certain street width.   

• Chairperson Pavlovsky stated that Lawrence Street does not have open ditches.  There are many areas that 
have open ditches and for people to park on the side of the road will end up taking up much of the lane. 

• Commissioner Urbish replied that parking next to an open ditch on the street is still preferable to an area 
with curb and gutter streets where folks are still parking in their yards. 

• Chairperson Pavlovsky replied that if they park in the ditch, it can cause drainage issues.  There was a bad 
situation in our neighborhood when LCISD built Bowie Elementary to accommodate 250 students but there 
are 750 students there now in portable buildings.  They expanded for the students but did not do anything 
for traffic control.  Eventually, LCISD built an internal driveway to get those cars off the street. 

• Commissioner Poldrack inquired why tires and landscaping materials were excluded from these 
amendments. 

• Mr. Tanner replied that for landscaping nurseries, there is no way they can keep their entire stock inside.  
That will require an exception.  For tire shops, it would impact so many existing businesses that it is less 
intrusive to grandfather those businesses. 

• Commissioner Poldrack replied that NTB, Discount Tire and Firestone do not stack tires outside.  He has an 
issue with all the tires along the street.  It is unsightly.  In the past, we have discussed requiring wider 
residential streets.  What impact, if any, would that have?  Are the problem areas in the older parts of 
Rosenberg? 

• Mr. Tanner replied that wider streets would only apply to new construction.  Older subdivisions have 
narrower streets that do not meet current City standards.   

• Commissioner Poldrack restated his support for wider street widths.  The narrow streets and drive-over 
curbs are inviting people to park in their yards. 

• Chairperson Pavlovsky inquired what it would take for the City to pass an ordinance for no parking on a 
street between two specific points. 

• Ms. Lenzsch replied that the streets are public and you cannot really prohibit parking on a roadway.  You 
could put it in areas for safety purposes such as visibility requirements.  In residential neighborhoods, 
people have the right to park on the streets. 

• Councilor McConathy replied that Council recently created a no parking zone on Ward Street since people 
were parking on the side of the street and causing a safety issue at the intersection. 

• Ms. Lenzsch replied that this issue came up years ago and the biggest issue was the number of homes that 
could not accommodate the number of cars they had.   

• Mr. Tanner added that a guest parking issue also exists. 
• Ms. Lenzsch stated that there are many variables. 
• Chairperson Pavlovsky inquired if the issue on Ward Street was due to the school. 
• Councilor McConathy replied that it was due to a bakery on Avenue I at Ward Street.  The bakery did have 

its own parking but as a matter of convenience, patrons would park in the street and creating a visibility 
issue. 

• Ms. Lenzsch replied that many new developments have deed restrictions that prohibit cars from being left on 
the street for a specific period of time.  That is another resource to consider for new developments with 
HOAs.  Older subdivisions are the ones with the problem.   

• Commissioner Poldrack stated that in addition to Greenwood, Cottonwood is another subdivision with 
parking issues. 

• Mr. Tanner stated that there are some areas that are not so old but it is in mostly older neighborhoods.  Staff 
can bring your recommendations to City Council and see if they want to discuss it further. 
 

Action Taken:  Vice Chairperson Phipps moved, seconded by Commissioner Urbish, to make a recommendation to 
City Council to approve the proposed amendments to the parking lot standards and specifications regarding parking 
of vehicles in residential front yards and outside display of merchandise.  The motion carried unanimously by those 
present. 
 
Additional Key Discussion: 

• Ms. Lenzsch inquired if the Commission would like to include an exception for boats as well. 
• Mr. Tanner replied that it could be included.  The proposed amendments are based upon a Sugar Land 

ordinance. 
• Ms. Lenzsch replied that it may be useful for Code Enforcement to exclude boats. 
• Councilor McConathy inquired if that exception is for a business or residential. 
• Mr. Tanner replied that this would apply to residential lots.  It currently states that is shall be unlawful for any 



 
Page 6 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 

 

person to park a recreational vehicle or trailer within the yard of a residential property.  It would apply to 
residences. 

• Commissioner Poldrack inquired if the vehicle is there for more than three days, would it be considered an 
abandoned vehicle? 

• Ms. Lenzsch replied that it would not be if on private property.  It would be if it is on the street for more than 
30 days. 

• Councilor McConathy stated that on the commercial side, as far as advertising, we are not including boats, 
correct? 

• Mr. Tanner replied that the amendment states that merchandise shall mean items for sale, not including 
landscaping materials, tires, vehicles, or other motorized equipment.   

• Ms. Lenzsch replied that in the state transportation code, boats are not considered motor vehicles.   
 

9. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON THE STAFF REPORT OF CURRENT ACTIVITIES AND REQUESTS 
FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS. 
 
Executive Summary:  The Staff Report of Current Activities consists of projects that staff is currently working on as well as 
other updates that are relevant to the Planning Commission.  This item also allows the Planning Commission the 
opportunity to request that items be placed on future agendas. 
 
The scope of the Comprehensive Plan update project will be discussed at the June 24, 2014 City Council Workshop 
Meeting.  The item was tabled at a previous meeting for further discussion.  Additionally, given that the Sign 
Ordinance amendments pertaining to the West Fort Bend Management District corridors have been completed and 
approved by City Council, staff is coordinating with the District for them to formally recognize the City’s regulations 
for freestanding sign height and size. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and stated that the “Sign” Ordinance amendments were approved by Council 
on May 6th and staff is coordinating with the West Fort Bend Management District (WFBMD) to implement 
the City standards on the WFBMD corridors, as has been the plan.  The WFBMD will need to amend their 
standards but they have directed the City to begin enforcing our standards but we are working on the formal 
agreement.  The Comprehensive Plan Update was tabled by City Council in May for further discussion.  It 
will be discussed at the next Council workshop meeting to determine how they want to proceed. 

• Chairperson Pavlovsky inquired when the next Planning Commission meeting takes place. 
• Mr. Tanner replied that it would be July 16th. 
• Commissioner Poldrack requested an Agenda item to discuss building standards for single family 

residences.  What is the masonry requirement for a single family house? 
• Mr. Tanner replied that the City does not have masonry standards for single family.  There may be some 

deed restrictions that require it.  The City has an Agreement for Brazos Town Center where they agreed to 
include 51% masonry construction in order to have 50-foot lots.  City-wide, there is no requirement.  We do 
have masonry requirements for multi-family and structures in the WFBMD for commercial construction.   

• Commissioner Poldrack inquired if it would be unreasonable to establish a City standard of 51% masonry for 
single family? 

• Mr. Tanner replied that would not be unreasonable.  It would be a policy decision of the Commission and 
City Council.  We do have the Texas Masonry Council who will come to a meeting to make a presentation if 
that is something the Commission would like. 

• Commissioner Poldrack stated that he would like to see nicer homes in the City that have more masonry.   
• Brief discussion was held on what constitutes masonry and if hardiplank siding would be considered 

masonry. 
• Mr. Tanner stated that if the City wrote an ordinance on masonry requirements, you would be able to define 

what masonry is.  Some cities include hardiplank and some cities do not.  It is a choice. 
• Commissioner Poldrack stated that hardiplank is fine but he prefers not to have homes that are 98% 

hardiplank with just a few bricks.  He would like to see better construction. 
• Chairperson Pavlovsky stated that he agrees with Commissioner Poldrack. 
• Mr. Tanner stated that one thing to keep in mind, the planned subdivisions are vested.  This would be for 

new construction. 
• Councilor McConathy stated that this requirement should apply only to new subdivisions. 
• Chairperson Pavlovsky stated that there is a house going up on Brooks Street that has very little masonry.  

This house is built about four feet off the ground; it is well done and looks good.  But it is wood. 
• Mr. Tanner stated that there are many examples of nice homes that do not have a lot of masonry but brick 

does offer architectural control.  From an aesthetic viewpoint, hardiplank does require more maintenance 



 
Page 7 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 

 

and needs to be painted and that is not an issue with brick. 
• Chairperson Pavlovsky requested that Mr. Tanner set up a presentation from the Texas Masonry Council for 

the next meeting. 
 
No action taken. 
 

10. ANNOUNCEMENTS. 
 
There were no announcements. 
 

11. ADJOURNMENT. 
There being no further business, Chairperson Pavlovsky adjourned the Rosenberg Planning Commission Meeting at 
4:41 p.m. 

 
 

_______________________________ 
Renée LeLaurin 

Secretary II 



 
PAGE 1 OF 6 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JULY 16, 2014 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES 
***DRAFT*** 

 
On this the 16th day of July 2014, the Planning Commission of the City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas, met in a 
regular meeting at the Rosenberg City Hall Council Chamber, 2110 4th Street, Rosenberg, Texas 77471. 
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT 
  Pete Pavlovsky    Planning Commission Chairperson 
  Wayne Poldrack   Planning Commission Secretary 
  Alicia Casias    Planning Commissioner 
  Mike Parsons    Planning Commissioner 
 
COMMISSIONERS ABSENT 
  Lester Phipps, Jr.   Planning Commission Vice Chairperson 
  James Urbish    Planning Commissioner 
 
STAFF PRESENT 
  Cynthia McConathy   Councilor, At Large Position Two 
  Travis Tanner    Executive Director of Community Development 
  Charles Kalkomey   City Engineer 
  Scott Tschirhart    City Attorney 
  Renée LeLaurin    Secretary II 
 
GUESTS PRESENT 
  Leila Siqueiros    Texas Masonry Council 
  Tony Topping    Texas Masonry Council 
  Carol Redd    EHRA, Inc. (Summer Lakes) 
  Jackie Overton    EHRA, Inc. (Summer Lakes) 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
Chairperson Pavlovsky called the meeting to order at 4:02 p.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON MINUTES OF THE JUNE 18, 2014 REGULAR PLANNING 
COMMISSION MEETING. 
 
Action Taken:  Commissioner Poldrack moved, seconded by Chairperson Pavlovsky, to approve the minutes of 
the June 18, 2014 Regular Planning Commission Meeting as written.  The motion failed by a vote of two “ayes” and 
two abstentions by those present.  Ayes:  Chairperson Pavlovsky and Commissioner Poldrack.  Abstentions:  
Commissioners Casias and Parsons. 
 
Key Discussion:   

• Brief discussion was held with Mr. Tschirhart regarding the number of votes needed to approve minutes.  
Abstention from voting is considered a vote of “no,” therefore the minutes for the June 18, 2014 Regular 
Planning Commission Meeting were not approved since two affirmative votes did not constitute a majority 
of the Commissioners present. 

 
Additional Action Taken:  Commissioner Parsons moved, seconded by Commissioner Poldrack, to table the 
minutes of the June 18, 2014 Regular Planning Commission Meeting until the next regular meeting.  The motion 
carried unanimously by those present. 

2. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A FINAL PLAT OF SUMMER LAKES SECTION SIX, BEING A 
SUBDIVISION OF 17.16 ACRES OUT OF THE JANE H. LONG LEAGUE, A-55 AND THE WM. LUSK SURVEY, 
A-276, IN THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, IN FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS (FORT BEND COUNTY MUNICIPAL 
UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 144); 80 LOTS, 6 BLOCKS, 3 RESERVES (0.4624 AC.). 
 



 
PAGE 2 OF 6 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JULY 16, 2014 

 

Executive Summary:  Summer Lakes Section Six Final Plat contains 17.16 acres and 80 single-family residential lots.  It 
is located within the City Limits and in Fort Bend County MUD No. 144.  Specifically, the proposed Plat is located off of 
Round Lake Drive in the northeast part of Summer Lakes.  It consists of the following lot sizes: 

• 52, or 65 percent, 50-foot lots 
• 28, or 35 percent, 60-foot or greater lots 

 
The above lot sizes are in accordance with the MUD No. 144 Planned Unit Development (PUD) Agreement (see attached 
Exhibit B, Land Use & Parcel Plan).  The Land Use & Parcel Plan simply identifies single-family residential as the 
proposed use for the areas of the Plat.  The Agreement calls for the lots to be a minimum of fifty (50) feet in width and 
6,000 square feet.  The average lot size is over 8,000 square feet and no lots are less than fifty (50) feet in width or 6,000 
square feet. 
 
The proposed Final Plat is consistent with the Preliminary Plat, which was approved by the Planning Commission 
on May 21, 2014.  The Plat also conforms to the MUD No. 144 Planned Unit Development (PUD) Agreement.  
There being no further issues, staff recommends that the Commission recommend approval to City Council of the 
Final Plat of Summer Lakes Section Six. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the executive summary. 
 
Action Taken:  Commissioner Parsons moved, seconded by Commissioner Casias, to recommend approval to City 
Council for the Final Plat of Summer Lakes Section Six, being a subdivision of 17.16 acres out of the Jane H. Long 
League, A-55, and the Wm. Lusk Survey, A-276, in the City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas (Fort Bend 
County Municipal Utility District No. 144); 80 lots, 6 blocks, 3 reserves (0.4624 ac.). 
 
Additional Discussion: 

• Commissioner Parsons inquired if Mr. Tanner had prepared a report showing the number of 50-55 foot lots 
that have been approved on previous plats so the Commission knows how many of these small lots have 
yet to be platted.  Staff once had a report by subdivision that showed what had been approved in the 
development agreement and how much of that had been platted and how many lots still remain to be 
platted by lot size.   

• Mr. Tanner replied that he would need to review past reports but that he does track lot sizes by year.  As for 
previous reports, staff would need to research. 

• Commissioner Parsons replied that he would like to get an idea how many of those small lots are still 
available and an estimate of how many years it may take to plat those lots. 

• Mr. Tanner replied that data could be extrapolated but is not something that is currently tracked.  It would 
take some time to pull that information together. 

• Chairperson Pavlovsky inquired if Mr. Tanner has an idea what the percentage of Summer Lakes is built 
out and platted. 

• Mr. Tanner replied that he would need to review the Land Plan but the sections north of Reading Road is 
more than halfway platted.  The sections south of Reading Road, now being referred to as Summer Park is 
just getting started.  One plat for Summer Park has been recorded and the next section will be coming to 
the Commission in the near future.  There are a few sections left to the east but the other part of MUD No. 
144 south of Reading Road is just starting to develop and will have a number of residences there. 

• Commissioner Parsons replied that he would also like to know the number of homes being built. 
• Mr.  Tanner replied that information is tracked in the Planning Department’s monthly reports and he can 

provide a copy to the Commission.  The standing quarterly development report was deferred but staff 
should include it on the next Agenda.  This development in particular differs from some of the other land 
plans in that the others have a projected number of lots and lot sizes.  The MUD No. 144 Land Plan is more 
open ended and does not show a final number of lots for the development.  It only specifies areas as single 
family residential.   

• Commissioner Parsons inquired if staff knows how many 50-foot lots have been platted. 
• Mr. Tanner replied that information can be compiled but the Land Plan for this subdivision does allow for 

50-foot lots.   
• Commissioner Parsons replied that the entire development could be 50-foot lots.  When was this Land Plan 

approved? 
• Mr. Tanner replied that the Land Plan was revised in 2011.  The original development agreement was 

about 2005 but he would need to verify that.  This is a Planned Unit Development and they had some 
flexibility due to having higher development standards than the City overall for commercial lots and other 
requirements but do have some smaller lots sizes in consideration for some of the other higher standards. 

• Commissioner Poldrack inquired how much trouble it would be to add the number of platted lot sizes by 



 
PAGE 3 OF 6 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JULY 16, 2014 

 

development in a database and then maintained by month to give the Commission a running list of lot 
sizes. 

• Mr. Kalkomey replied that no one is currently tracking lot sizes along with house starts.  It would be easy if 
the whole development is a single lot size and all lots had built out.  But in subdivisions with multiple lot 
sizes and ongoing development, that number is not readily available but can be generated after some 
research. 

• Commissioner Parsons replied that information is important for this Commission’s long range plan for what 
this City will look like in 20-25 years. 

• Mr. Tanner replied that is something that the Comprehensive Plan Update will look at.  In house, there is 
not adequate staff for additional reporting.   

• Commissioner Parsons stated that as part of the master plan, it is a good exercise to see where the City is 
and where it is going.  Has the Comprehensive Plan Update been approved? 

• Councilor McConathy replied no.   
• Commissioner Poldrack stated that 50-foot lots do not necessarily indicate a starter home.  The Reserve at 

Brazos Town Center has smaller lot sizes but have 200K homes.   
• Commissioner Parsons agreed and stated that he does not take issue with a smaller lot size if a quality 

home is going on it.  The City does not need any more starter homes. 
 
Action Taken:  Upon voting, the motion carried unanimously by those present. 
 

3. HEAR AND DISCUSS A PRESENTATION BY THE TEXAS MASONRY COUNCIL, AND TAKE ACTION AS 
NECESSARY TO DIRECT STAFF. 
 
Executive Summary: As part of a request to discuss possible masonry requirements for single-family homes, the 
Planning Commission requested staff to extend an invitation to the Texas Masonry Council for a representative to 
make a presentation to the Commission on possible masonry standards.   
 
Presentation Summary: 

• Ms. Leila Sequeiros, Austin/San Antonio Area Government Relations Specialist, introduced herself and Mr. 
Tony Topping, Houston Area Government Relations Specialist with the Texas Masonry Council, to the 
Commissioners and made the following PowerPoint presentation: 

o Presentation Overview 
 Introduction to Texas Masonry Council 
 Overview of Masonry Planning Policies 
 Rosenberg’s Opportunities 
 How We Can Help 
 Questions and Discussion 

o Texas Masonry Council 
 The Texas Masonry Council is a non-profit organization that promotes the long standing 

tradition of building in Texas with beautiful, durable and sustainable masonry materials. 
 We are the only organization in Texas specializing specifically in assisting communities 

with the development of Masonry Planning Policies. 
 We have worked with over 200 cities across Texas assisting with the development of 

Masonry Planning Policies. 
 Best of all, ALL OUR SERVICES ARE FREE. 

o Masonry Planning Policies 
 In Texas, municipalities such as Rosenberg have the lawful right to adopt local legislation 

to protect the health, safety and welfare of their citizens. 
 One such form of legislation is a Masonry Planning Policy. 
 Some Masonry Planning Policies come in the form of: 

• New zoning ordinances of an amendment to an existing zoning ordinance. 
• New building codes or an amendment to an existing building code. 
• Residential construction design guidelines (can include multi-family). 
• Non-residential construction guidelines (commercial construction). 
• An overlay or designated district, such as a Historical Downtown District. 
• Architectural guidelines. 

o What is Masonry? 
 According to the International Building Code (IBC) and International Residential Building 

Code (IRC), the state mandated building codes of Texas, masonry is, “a form of 
construction composed of brick, stone, concrete block or other materials of equal 
characteristics laid up unit by unit and set in mortar.” 



 
PAGE 4 OF 6 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JULY 16, 2014 

 

 Although these codes define masonry, they do not require it. 
 By definition, masonry does not include other inferior building materials such as fiber 

cement siding, stucco or synthetic stucco. 
o A Local Planning Tool 

 Local Decision 
• The percentage of masonry required by the policy, and the materials that will be 

considered acceptable, are determined by the needs and desires of the 
community. 

• With a library of over 200 masonry policies in Texas, we can help guide the 
process and assist in crafting the details of a new policy. 

o Benefits of Masonry Policies 
 FACT:  Masonry Products are Low Maintenance 

• True masonry products require little to no maintenance at all. 
• Here is a picture of a Rosenberg home that is less than three years old. 
• Note the growth of mildew on the fiber cement siding. 
• Homes in this neighborhood were 25% or less true masonry. 

 Increases the Tax Base and Home Value 
• Masonry homes appreciate in value faster than non-brick homes.  Some research 

shows they appreciate up to 6% in the first year alone.  That means a bigger tax 
base and increased revenue available for cities to provide essential city services.  
Services that are even increasing in cost.  Masonry homes very rarely depreciate 
in value, unlike some homes built with inferior materials such as fiber cement 
siding. 

 Lower Cost of Ownership and Faster Resale 
• Masonry homes are more energy efficient – up to 7% lower energy costs 
• Masonry homes have lower insurance premiums. 
• Lower maintenance costs: 

o No painting needed. 
o No need to replace decaying siding. 
o Looks great for decades. 

 More Predictable Development Creating a “Sense of Place” 
• More predictable development.  Brick, stone and masonry products are such 

classic and traditional building materials that they lend themselves to more classic 
architecture styles.  City leaders don’t have to worry as much about some oddball 
development popping up in the middle of a neighborhood. It certainly happens.  
Who in here wants this home built next to yours? (photo example shown of snail-
shaped stucco structure painted in rainbow colors.) 

 Brick Homes are Safer 
• Texas Tech University built two wall systems according to the state mandated 

residential building code.  One was built with a brick exterior and the other with 
fiber cement.  They fired a 2x4 at the wind speed of a category 3 tornado into the 
walls.  The 2x4 shattered upon impact with the brick wall.  But the 2x4 fired at the 
fiber cement wall went straight through it.  Imagine if a child were sleeping there 
when that 2x4 came flying through the wall. 

o University of Michigan Research 
 “Found that the adoption of a masonry ordinance not only enhances the durability and 

aesthetic value of local properties, but it also increases the property value, tax base, and 
overall fiscal health of the community.  In addition, the research indicates that the adoption 
of a masonry ordinance promotes population growth and does not significantly affect the 
affordability of housing or rental costs.” 

o Rosenberg’s Opportunities 
 West Fort Bend Management District already incorporates many of these ideas into their 

design guidelines. 
 “Growth is coming and Rosenberg is about to grow exponentially.  The question is what 

kind of people are going to come.”  - Commissioner Mike Parsons 
o How Can We Help? 

 Recommendations 
• Recommend that Rosenberg begin to look at creating a residential masonry 

ordinance. 
 Research 

• Other ordinances adopted throughout Texas 



 
PAGE 5 OF 6 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JULY 16, 2014 

 

• Connect you with communities that have them in place 
 Lead workshops to help leaders make decisions 
 Draft the ordinance 
 All services are FREE 

o Questions and Discussion 
 

• Commissioner Parsons stated that this is not the first time this presentation has been made to the Planning 
Commission.  There was a previous presentation in the last tenure with another group regarding the 
development of masonry requirements.  Masonry requirements are integral to the successful growth of 
Rosenberg in the long run.  It would be interesting to know which Texas cities have endorsed masonry 
guidelines.  Our City is not zoned but it is important to add to our building codes what we foresee as the 
Rosenberg we want to see 25-30 years from now.  We need to be progressive and ahead of the curve with 
what we want to see in this City.   

• Ms. Sequeiros replied that a few years ago, Cedar Park was not that attractive of a city.  They have put in 
strong masonry standards over the past few years and the difference is dramatic.  Cities that did not do 
what was needed before growth came to their areas are now struggling.  If masonry standards are not 
established, it will mean lower quality development. 

• Commissioner Poldrack stated that he agrees with Commissioner Parsons but also feels it needs to be 
taken a step further and look at building standards overall and what can be done to enhance the quality of 
future development.  Masonry is one part of that.  There are other things that can be done to enhance 
quality of construction down the road.   

• Ms. Sequeiros replied that the Texas Masonry Council has also assisted with the whole design guidelines 
that are not just masonry but also landscaping, setbacks, etc.  We can provide some samples if you want to 
start working on it. 

• Chairperson Pavlovsky inquired if the Texas Masonry Council had ever made a presentation to the West 
Fort Bend Management District (WFBMD). 

• Mr. Topping replied that it was likely in the past. 
• Mr. Tanner stated that the WFBMD already has stringent masonry standards – they require 80% masonry. 
• Chairperson Pavlovsky stated that the more successful cities are doing things like this and thanked the 

representatives for coming out. 
• Commissioner Parsons stated that some action is needed so we can move in this direction.  He would like 

the Commission to make a motion to endorse this idea of masonry enhancement for the City as well as 
other enhancements in the building code. 

• Commissioner Poldrack inquired of Councilor McConathy if City Council would be receptive to amending 
the design standards. 

• Councilor McConathy replied that she is only one Councilor and cannot speak for the rest.  She would 
support it.   

• Mr. Tschirhart commented that the Agenda is not worded to allow specific action on this item but the 
Commission may direct staff to bring back an item on the next Agenda. 

• Chairperson Pavlovsky thanked Ms. Sequeiros and Mr. Topping for their presentation. 
 
No action taken. 
 

4. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON THE STAFF REPORT OF CURRENT ACTIVITIES AND REQUESTS 
FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS. 
 
Executive Summary:  The Staff Report of Current Activities consists of projects that staff is currently working on as well 
as other updates that are relevant to the Planning Commission.  This item also allows the Planning Commission the 
opportunity to request that items be placed on future agendas. 
 
After being tabled on May 6, 2014, the scope of the Comprehensive Plan update was discussed at the June 24, 2014 City 
Council Workshop Meeting.  The consensus of City Council was to move forward with the project.   
 
Additionally, given that the “Sign” Ordinance amendments pertaining to the West Fort Bend Management District 
(WFBMD) corridors have been completed and approved by City Council, staff is coordinating with the WFBMD for 
them to formally recognize the City’s regulations for freestanding sign height and size.  This was discussed at the 
June 17, 2014 WFBMD Board Meeting.  The Board directed their staff to move forward and an item will be on the 
July 15, 2014 WFBMD Agenda to accept the City standards for height and size. 
 
Key Discussion: 

• Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the executive summary.  The quarterly report that is typically 



 
PAGE 6 OF 6 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JULY 16, 2014 

 

presented on this Agenda will be on the next regular Agenda.   
• Commissioner Parsons inquired if Mr. Tanner knew when the “Sign” Ordinance amendments began. 
• Councilor McConathy replied that the Sign Review Task Force met in 2009. 
• Commissioner Parsons replied that it takes an extraordinary amount of time to get to things.  The delay in 

this process is putting the City further behind.  Some methodology is needed to help move these changes 
along.  How many signs were erected between 2009 and 2014 while these standards were being 
considered? 

• Councilor McConathy replied that a factor in that was the City Council itself had changed as well as the 
WFBMD request that the two cities of Richmond and Rosenberg standardize the signage requirements for 
both cities.  That took time to accomplish. 

• Commissioner Parsons stated that he is not pointing fingers but it should not take six years to establish sign 
regulations.   

• Commissioner Parsons requested an Agenda item in support of establishing masonry requirements in the 
City’s design standards. 

• Commissioner Poldrack requested an Agenda item to review residential street widths in new developments 
again.  A study of our design standards should include a study of our streets. 

• Mr. Tanner replied that should be part of the Comprehensive Plan Update once it moves forward. 
• Commissioner Poldrack inquired when that would be. 
• Councilor McConathy replied that the reason it was tabled at last night’s meeting is that three Council 

members were out. 
• Commissioner Parsons inquired what the current street width requirement is. 
• Mr. Tanner replied 28 feet. 
• Commissioner Parsons replied that when the Commission discussed this previously, the consensus was for 

street widths of 32-36 feet wide.  The idea was that cars would be able to park on both sides of the street 
yet not obstruct emergency vehicle access. 

• Councilor McConathy suggested that longer driveways would also help alleviate some on-street parking. 
• Commissioner Poldrack replied that is part of the overall issues that this Commission would like to address 

in order to enhance the overall quality of building in our community.  If wider streets, longer driveways, and 
more masonry will accomplish that, it needs to be considered. 

• Commissioner Parsons stated that there are some areas in the City where on-street parking is only allowed 
on one side of the street.  For subdivisions with narrow street widths, restricting on-street parking to one 
side of the street to allow for emergency access may be a consideration. 

• A general consensus was reached to include discussion items on the next regular Agenda for the City’s 
design standards regarding masonry requirements and residential street widths, and an item regarding on-
street parking regulations. 

 
No action taken. 
 

5. ANNOUNCEMENTS. 
• Chairperson Pavlovsky welcomed Scott Tschirhart, new City Attorney with Denton Navarro Rocha Bernal 

Hyde & Zech, P.C. 
 

6. ADJOURNMENT. 
There being no further business, Chairperson Pavlovsky adjourned the Rosenberg Planning Commission Meeting 
at 4:44 p.m. 

 
 

___________________________ 
Renée LeLaurin 

Secretary II 



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

2 Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication, being a 
subdivision of 2.3580 acres out of the Robert E. Handy Survey, A-187, in the City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend 
County, Texas (Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 144); 0 lots, 0 blocks, 0 reserves. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
144 (Summer Lakes/Waterford 

Park) City 4 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication 
2. Revised Land Use and Parcel Plan for MUD No. 144 Planned Unit Development – 11-01-11 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP  
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication consists of 2.358 acres of proposed public right-
of-way.  The Plat is located off of Reading Road and August Green Drive, in the City Limits and in Fort Bend 
County MUD No. 144.  It extends from the existing portion of Park Place Boulevard abutting the Waterford Park 
Apartments to the roundabout where August Green Drive currently terminates.  It is a proposed eighty-foot (80’) 
collector street right-of-way that will provide a needed secondary access to and from the subdivision.  The Plat is 
in accordance with the Revised Land Use and Parcel Plan for MUD No. 144 and is not in conflict with any 
applicable regulations.  Staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street 
Dedication. 
  
 
 



� �

�



CITY OF ROSENBERG
CALLED 5.332 ACRES

F.B.C.C.F. NO. 1999030872
O.P.R.O.R.P.

SH
A

N
E 

BL
U

M
E

CA
LL

ED
 2

.2
98

 A
CR

ES

VO
LU

M
E 

13
55

, P
A

G
E 

16
3

D
.R

.F
.B

.C
.

JOSE VILLARREAL AND WIFE, ALICIA VILLARREAL

CALLED 18.708 ACRES

F.B.C.C.F. NO. 9763023
O.P.R.O.R.P. LOT 18

LOT 21

LOT 15

LOT 12

LOT 9

LOT 6

LOT 3

UNRESTRICTED RESERVE "C"

UNRESTRICTED RESERVE "B"

UNRESTRICTED RESERVE "A"

ROSENBERG RESEARCH DRIVE

(60' R.O.W.)

THE READING CENTER
SLIDE NO. 1680A & 1680B

P.R.F.B.C.

VO
LU

M
E 

52
2,

 P
A

G
E 

22
D

.R
.F

.B
.C

.

READING ROAD
(100' R.O.W.)

VOLUME 125, PAGE 179
D.R.F.B.C.

RESIDUE OF
CALLED 136.3914 ACRES
F.B.C.C.F. NO. 9885910

O.P.R.O.R.P.

36
' A

sp
ha

lt 
Pa

vi
ng

RICHMOND IRRIGATION CO. 100' EASEMENT

CA
RD

IN
A

L 
RO

A
D

 (6
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

RA
VE

N
 R

O
A

D
 (6

0'
 R

.O
.W

.)

LA
RK

 R
O

A
D

 (6
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

10
0.

00
'

F.
M

. 2
97

7
 (C

A
LL

ED
 1

00
' R

.O
.W

)

AGNES MEADOW LANE  (60' R.O.W.)

SP
A

CE
K 

RO
A

D

ONLY

ONLY

ONLY

ONLY

ONLY

ONLY

s

s

s

s

u

s

s

s

s

ss

u

ss

t

s

l l

V

V
l

U

U

tr

s

t

V

l

l

V

t

t

V
l

l

t

l

V

r

t

t

V

l

l t

s

t

V

l

t

s

t

t

V

l

t

t

t

t

t

t

t

t

U
U

t

t

t

U
U

s

t

t

s

l
V

l

ll

t

s

s

L

s

s

I

s

V
l

I

I

V
l

l

l

l l

j

j

j

j

j

j

j

j

j

j

L

j

I

j

s

s

l
V

I

j

l
l V

U

U
U

U
U

U

l

s

l
V

s

I

l V

I

I

t

t

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

a

t

t

I

I

I

tr

t

t

t

r

t

t

Ut

I

t

r

r

t

ss

s

U

t

t

r

r

t

tUt

t

r

I

s

l

t

t

t

t

l
V

l
V

s

s

I

l l

G G G
G

G

GGG
G

G

S t u d i o L a n d
 Landscape Architecture

S L A
•••

•
L a n d  P l a n n i ngLand Use & Parcel Plan: Exhibit B

MP G-6the original scale is 1”= 400’ north arrow

0 200 400    800  ft

Fort Bend County Municipal UUtility District No. 144 PUD
SYI902
April 8, 2010
Revised June 18, 2010
Revised July 22, 2010
Revised October 26, 2011

Legend
Parcel Areas

A 38.65� �

� �� �

��

�

�

� ��

� �� �

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

B 49.74
C 12.90
D 28.63
E 31.32
F 128.40
G
* OPF- Other public city, county, state & federal facilities
  CH-Church

SCH-School

Commercial
Commercial/Residential
Multi-family/Commercial
Multi-family/Residential
Residential
Residential
Park Space/Detention 75.96

SF  DUP  PH   TH   MF

Land Uses Permitted
 COM RET CH SCH OPF*

Land Use Key

365.60 Acres

Parcel Key

Parcel Number

Land Use Key

WFBMD Boundary

WFBMD Boundary

1 A

2 A

21G

22G

23G
5 B

4 B

6 B 24G

7 B

16E

33G

15E
9 B

8 C

14D

13D

12C

3 A

28G

29G

25G

30G

26G

31G

27G

27G

32G

19F
20F

18F

17F

11B

10B

10.27 Ac

25.87 Ac

0.63 Ac

0.54 Ac

0.46 Ac
9.24 Ac

2.16 Ac

2.07 Ac 12.79 Ac

2.76 Ac

12.61 Ac

2.47 Ac

18.71 Ac

14.09Ac

6.69 Ac

15.23 Ac

13.40 Ac

6.19 Ac

2.51 Ac

10.83 Ac

1.64 Ac

11.64 Ac

10.14 Ac

3.73 Ac

13.97 Ac

4.19 Ac

2.93 Ac

10.89 Ac

37.14 Ac

26.61 Ac

53.76Ac

10.60 Ac

8.81 Ac

Tract 14

Tract 15

Tract 16

Tract 17

Tract 18

MUD 144 Limited Controlled Tracts*

Tract #

Notes:

Tract Area Acres

14 4.56
15 6.2395
16 5.8758
17 3.78
18** 4.1667

24.622 Acres

 *Note 1: Tracts 14, 15, 16, 17 & 18 depicted on Exhibit "A" 
on the MUD 144 PUD (hereinafter referred to as "Limited 
Control Tracts") are included within the PUD boundary for 
the sole purpose of applying Exhibit "H", Exhibit "I" and 
Table "5" PUD standards to the Limited Control Tracts.
 
** Note 2: Tract 18 (depicted on Exhibit "A" of the MUD 144 
PUD) is encumbered by easements (including but not limited
 to landscaping, signage, access and other easements) for 
the benefit of the "Adjacent Parcel" referred to as the "Summer 
Creek Subdivision Tract" (identified as Tract 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 
as depicted on Exhibit "A" to the MUD 144 PUD hereof) filed 
under Fort Bend County Clerk's File No's 2006155450 and 
2010079053 ("Easements"). A Benefitted Party of the Summer 
Creek Subdivision Tract shall be entitled to meet the 
requirements Exhibit "H", Exhibit "I" and Table "5" of the 
MUD 144 PUD in connection with and subject to said 
Easement rights on Tract 18.

*** Note 3: The ±.2 acre difference between the PUD Tract total
acreage and the Parcel sums listed on Exhibit B is attributable to
a portion of Lake Commons Drive in Summer Lakes that is included 
in the Tract summary but excluded from the Land Use inventory.  



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

3 Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two, being a subdivision of 15.59 
acres out of the Wm. Lusk Survey, A-276, in Fort Bend County, Texas (Fort Bend County Municipal Utility 
District No. 158); 46 lots, 2 blocks, 4 reserves (4.2975 acres). 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
158 (Rivers Mist/River Run at the 

Brazos) ETJ N/A 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two 
2. Land Plan for Rivers Mist – 05-03-06 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP  
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two is located off of Furleson Drive, southwest of the intersection of 
Reading Road and Sorens Mist Boulevard.  The proposed Plat is in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) and in 
Fort Bend County MUD No. 158. 
 
The Plat consists of 46 lots, two (2) blocks, and three (3) reserves totaling 4.2658 acres.  All proposed lots are a 
minimum of sixty feet (60’) in width.  This is in accordance with the approved Land Plan for Rivers Mist dated 
May 2006. 
 
The proposed Plat meets all applicable regulations of the City of Rosenberg and is not in conflict with the Land 
Plan for Rivers Mist.  Staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two. 
  
 
 









PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

4 Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B, a subdivision of 8.333 
acres of land located in the S.A. Stone Survey No. 10, A-392, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, 
Texas; Lots:  44; Reserves:  1; Blocks:  4. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
148 (Cottonwood) City 2 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B 
2. Land Plan for Cottonwood  

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B consists of 8.33 acres and 44 residential lots.  It is located 
off of Barton Creek and Pease River Lanes, immediately southwest of Cottonwood Section Three-A.  The Plat is 
within the City Limits and in Fort Bend County MUD No. 148. 
 
All proposed lots are fifty feet (50’) in width and a minimum of 6,000 square feet in size.  The Land Plan was 
approved before the current standards relating to lot size.  The Plat conforms to the approved Land Plan dated 
April 2003. 
 
There being no conflicts with applicable regulations, staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of 
Cottonwood Section Three-B. 
  
 
 



Brown & Gay Engineers, Inc.

Tel: 281-558-8700 ● www.browngay.com





PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

5 Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B, a subdivision of 8.333 acres of 
land located in the S.A. Stone Survey No. 10, A-392, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas; Lots:  
44; Reserves:  1; Blocks:  4. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
148 (Cottonwood) City 2 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B 
2. Land Plan for Cottonwood – Please refer to previous Agenda item 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Per the previous Agenda item, the Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B consists of 8.33 acres and 44 
residential lots.  It is located off of Barton Creek and Pease River Lanes, immediately southwest of Cottonwood 
Section Three-A.  The Plat is within the City Limits and in Fort Bend County MUD No. 148. 
 
All proposed lots are fifty feet (50’) in width and a minimum of 6,000 square feet in size.  The Land Plan was 
approved before the current standards relating to lot size.  The Plat conforms to the approved Land Plan dated 
April 2003. 
 
In this case, the applicant submitted the Final Plat at the same time as the Preliminary Plat.  City staff did not see 
an issue with the Preliminary and Final Plats being on the same Agenda because plans for the public 
infrastructure in the subdivision had already been submitted and approved.  There being no conflicts with 
applicable regulations, staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval to City Council of 
the Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B. 
  
 
 



Brown & Gay Engineers, Inc.

Tel: 281-558-8700 ● www.browngay.com



Brown & Gay Engineers, Inc.

Tel: 281-558-8700 ● www.browngay.com



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

6 Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three, a subdivision of 8.670 acres 
of land located in the James Lowery 1/3 League, A-275, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas; also 
being a partial replat of Reserve “A-2”, Block 1, Bayou Crossing Section Two Partial Replat No. One 
recorded at Plat No. 20130258, F.B.C.P.R., and a partial replat of Lots 3 and 4, J. M. Donley Subdivision 
recorded at Vol. 1, Pg. 20, F.B.C.P.R. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
N/A City 3 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three 
2. Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three – 06-18-14 
3. Land Plan for Bayou Crossing 
4. Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt – 06-18-14 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three is located off of Grand Cane Lane in the Bayou Crossing 
Development.  It is in the City Limits and immediately northeast of Bayou Crossing Section Two. 
 
The proposed Final Plat contains 8.67 acres and 37 residential lots.  All proposed lots are a minimum of sixty feet 
(60’) in width and 6,600 square feet in size.  The Plat conforms to the approved Land Plan for Bayou Crossing 
and to the Preliminary Plat, which was approved by the Planning Commission on June 18, 2014. 
 
There being no further issues or conflicts with City standards, staff recommends that the Planning Commission 
recommend approval to City Council of the Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three. 
  
 
 



Brown & Gay Engineers, Inc.

Tel: 281-558-8700 ● www.browngay.com



Brown & Gay Engineers, Inc.

Tel: 281-558-8700 ● www.browngay.com

”

”
”

”



Brown & Gay Engineers, Inc.





Page 2 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 
�

3. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF BAYOU CROSSING SECTION THREE, A 
SUBDIVISION OF 8.670 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED IN THE JAMES LOWERY 1/3 LEAGUE, A-275, CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS, ALSO BEING A PARTIAL REPLAT OF RESERVE “A-2”, 
BLOCK 1, BAYOU CROSSING SECTION TWO PARTIAL REPLAT NO. ONE, RECORDED AT PLAT NO. 
20130258, F.B.C.P.R., AND A PARTIAL REPLAT OF LOTS 3 & 4, J.M. DONLEY SUBDIVISION RECORDED AT 
VOL. 1, PG, 20, F.B.C.P.R. 

Executive Summary:  As discussed in the previous Agenda item, the Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three is 
located off of Grand Cane Lane in the northeast part of Bayou Crossing, located in the northeast corner of Louise Street 
and Airport Avenue.  The Plat consists of 8.67 acres and thirty-seven (37) residential lots.  The proposed Plat is not in 
conflict with the approved Land Plan dated September 2004.  In fact, the Land Plan, which is attached for reference, 
provides for fifty- and sixty-foot lots in this location.  However, the proposed Plat provides for all sixty-foot lots in accordance 
with current regulations. 

Because the Plat constitutes a partial replat of Reserve “A-2” of Block 1 of Bayou Crossing Section Two Partial 
Replat No. One, a public hearing was held per State law and the “Subdivision” Ordinance.  There being no issues, 
staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three.

Key Discussion: 
� Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 

Action Taken:  Commissioner Urbish moved, seconded by Commissioner Poldrack, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Bayou Crossing Section Three, a subdivision of 8.670 acres of land located in the James Lowery 1/3 League, A-
275, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas, also being a partial replat of Reserve “A-2”, Block 1, Bayou 
Crossing Section Two Partial Replat No. One, recorded at Plat No. 20130258, F.B.C.P.R., and a partial replat of 
Lots 3 & 4, J. M. Donley Subdivision recorded at Vol. 1, Pg. 20, F.B.C.P.R.  The motion carried unanimously by 
those present. 

4. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF BONBROOK PLANTATION NORTH 
SECTION THIRTEEN, A SUBDIVISION OF 19.476 ACRES OF LAND SITUATED IN THE WILEY MARTIN 
LEAGUE, ABSTRACT 56, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS; 88 LOTS, 3 RESERVES (1.031 ACRES), 3 BLOCKS. 

Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen is located off of Reading Road, 
adjacent to Bridlewood Estates, in the east central part of Bonbrook Plantation.  The proposed Plat contains 19.476 acres, 
88 residential lots, and three (3) reserves consisting of 1.031 acres. 

The proposed lots are a minimum of fifty feet (50’) in width and 6,000 square feet in size.  This is in accordance with the 
approved Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation, which calls for fifty-foot (50’) lots in this location of the development.  The 
Land Plan is attached for reference. 

The proposed Preliminary Plat is not in conflict with any applicable regulations.  Staff recommends approval of the 
Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen. 

Key Discussion: 
� Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary.

Action Taken:  Commissioner Poldrack moved, seconded by Commission Phipps, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen, a subdivision of 19.476 acres of land situated in the Wiley Martin 
League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 88 lots, 3 reserves (1.031 acres), 3 blocks.  The motion carried 
unanimously by those present. 

5. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUMMER LAKES SECTION SEVEN, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION OF 23.94 ACRES OUT OF THE W.M. LUSK SURVEY, A-276, IN THE CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, IN FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS (FORT BEND COUNTY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 
144); 53 LOTS, 5 BLOCKS, 10 RESERVES (7.4627 ACRES). 

Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Seven is located off of Reading Road and Round 
Lake Drive in the eastern portion of the Summer Lakes development.  The Plat consists of 23.94 acres, 53 residential lots, 
and ten (10) reserves containing 7.4627 acres. 

reneel
Rectangle



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

7 Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven, a subdivision of 
8.924 acres of land situated in the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 35 lots, 0 
reserves, 3 blocks. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
155 (Bonbrook Plantation) ETJ N/A 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven 
2. Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven – 01-22-14 
3. Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation – 09-25-07 
4. Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt – 01-22-14 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The proposed Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven is located off of Blossom Terrace Lane in 
the northeast part of the overall Bonbrook Plantation Development.  It is in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) 
and in Fort Bend County MUD No. 155.  The Plat contains approximately 8.924 acres and thirty-five (35) single-
family residential lots. 
 
The typical lot size for the subdivision is 65 feet in width.  Each lot is a minimum of 65 feet in width at the front 
building line.  In the lot summary table, some lots (3) are noted as being less than 65-foot lots due to being less 
than 50 feet at the right-of-way.  The subdivision is in compliance with the approved Land Plan for Bonbrook 
Plantation.  The Planning Commission approved the Preliminary Plat of this subdivision on January 22, 2014. 
 
The proposed Final Plat is not in conflict with any applicable regulations, with the Preliminary Plat, or with the 
approved Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation.  That being said, staff recommends that the Planning Commission 
recommend approval to City Council of the Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven. 
  
 
 



VICINITY MAP

N

BEAZER HOMES TEXAS, L.P.
BY: BEAZER HOMES TEXAS HOLDINGS, INC.

BONBROOK  PLANTATION  NORTH
SECTION ELEVEN

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                    Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                          Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                            FRN - F-1386
                                                       T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501



N

VICINITY MAP

N

BEAZER HOMES TEXAS, L.P.
BY: BEAZER HOMES TEXAS HOLDINGS, INC.

BONBROOK  PLANTATION  NORTH
SECTION ELEVEN

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                   Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                       Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                          FRN - F-1386
                                                    T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501







reneel
Rectangle



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

8 Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve, a subdivision of 
8.522 acres of land situated in the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 34 lots, 0 
reserves, 2 blocks. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
155 (Bonbrook Plantation) ETJ N/A 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve 
2. Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve – 01-22-14 
3. Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation – 09-25-07 – Please refer to previous Agenda item 
4. Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt – 01-22-14 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The proposed Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve is located off of Blossom Terrace Lane in 
the northeast part of the overall Bonbrook Plantation Development.  It is in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) 
and in Fort Bend County MUD No. 155.  The plat contains approximately 8.522 acres and thirty-four (34) single-
family residential lots. 
 
The typical lot size for the subdivision is 65 feet in width.  Each lot is a minimum of 65 feet in width at the front 
building line.  In the lot summary table, some lots (5) are noted as being less than 65-foot lots due to being less 
than 50 feet at the right-of-way.  The subdivision is in compliance with the approved Land Plan for Bonbrook 
Plantation.  The Planning Commission approved the Preliminary Plat of this subdivision on January 22, 2014. 
 
The proposed Final Plat is not in conflict with any applicable regulations, with the approved Preliminary Plat, or 
with the approved Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation.  That being said, staff recommends that the Planning 
Commission recommend approval to City Council of the Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve. 
  
 
 



VICINITY MAP

N

BEAZER HOMES TEXAS, L.P.
BY: BEAZER HOMES TEXAS HOLDINGS, INC.

BONBROOK  PLANTATION  NORTH
SECTION TWELVE

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                    Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                          Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                            FRN - F-1386
                                                       T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501



N

VICINITY MAP

N

BEAZER HOMES TEXAS, L.P.
BY: BEAZER HOMES TEXAS HOLDINGS, INC.

BONBROOK  PLANTATION  NORTH
SECTION TWELVE

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                   Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                       Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                          FRN - F-1386
                                                    T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501





reneel
Rectangle



reneel
Rectangle



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

9 Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen, a subdivision of 
19.476 acres of land situated in the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 88 lots, 3 
reserves (1.031 acres), 3 blocks. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
155 (Bonbrook Plantation) ETJ N/A 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen 
2. Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen – 06-18-14 
3. Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation – 09-25-07 – Please refer to Agenda Item No. 7 
4. Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt – 06-18-14 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen is located off of Reading Road, adjacent to 
Bridlewood Estates, in the east central part of Bonbrook Plantation.  The proposed Plat contains 19.476 acres, 
88 residential lots, and three (3) reserves consisting of 1.031 acres. 
 
The proposed lots are a minimum of fifty feet (50’) in width and 6,000 square feet in size.  This is in accordance 
with the approved Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation, which calls for fifty-foot (50’) lots in this location of the 
development.  The Land Plan is attached for reference.  The Preliminary Plat of this subdivision was approved 
by the Planning Commission on June 18, 2014. 
 
The proposed Final Plat is not in conflict with any applicable regulations or with the approved Preliminary Plat.  
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission recommend approval to City Council of the Final Plat of 
Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen. 
  
 
 



BONBROOK PLANTATION, L.P.
A TEXAS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

BY: TAYLOR & WEIDNER, L.L.C., MANAGING GENERAL PARTNER

BONBROOK PLANTATION NORTH
SECTION THIRTEEN

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                    Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                          Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                            FRN - F-1386
                                                       T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501

VICINITY MAP

N



N

BONBROOK PLANTATION, L.P.
A TEXAS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

BY: TAYLOR & WEIDNER, L.L.C., MANAGING GENERAL PARTNER

BONBROOK PLANTATION NORTH
SECTION THIRTEEN

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                   Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                       Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                          FRN - F-1386
                                                     T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501

VICINITY MAP

N



N

BONBROOK PLANTATION, L.P.
A TEXAS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

BY: TAYLOR & WEIDNER, L.L.C., MANAGING GENERAL PARTNER

PRELIMINARY PLAT
BONBROOK PLANTATION NORTH

SECTION THIRTEEN

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                   Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                       Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                          FRN - F-1386
                                                     T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501

VICINITY MAP

N



Page 2 of 7 * DRAFT PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES * JUNE 18, 2014 
�

3. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF BAYOU CROSSING SECTION THREE, A 
SUBDIVISION OF 8.670 ACRES OF LAND LOCATED IN THE JAMES LOWERY 1/3 LEAGUE, A-275, CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS, ALSO BEING A PARTIAL REPLAT OF RESERVE “A-2”, 
BLOCK 1, BAYOU CROSSING SECTION TWO PARTIAL REPLAT NO. ONE, RECORDED AT PLAT NO. 
20130258, F.B.C.P.R., AND A PARTIAL REPLAT OF LOTS 3 & 4, J.M. DONLEY SUBDIVISION RECORDED AT 
VOL. 1, PG, 20, F.B.C.P.R. 

Executive Summary:  As discussed in the previous Agenda item, the Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three is 
located off of Grand Cane Lane in the northeast part of Bayou Crossing, located in the northeast corner of Louise Street 
and Airport Avenue.  The Plat consists of 8.67 acres and thirty-seven (37) residential lots.  The proposed Plat is not in 
conflict with the approved Land Plan dated September 2004.  In fact, the Land Plan, which is attached for reference, 
provides for fifty- and sixty-foot lots in this location.  However, the proposed Plat provides for all sixty-foot lots in accordance 
with current regulations. 

Because the Plat constitutes a partial replat of Reserve “A-2” of Block 1 of Bayou Crossing Section Two Partial 
Replat No. One, a public hearing was held per State law and the “Subdivision” Ordinance.  There being no issues, 
staff recommends approval of the Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three.

Key Discussion: 
� Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary. 

Action Taken:  Commissioner Urbish moved, seconded by Commissioner Poldrack, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Bayou Crossing Section Three, a subdivision of 8.670 acres of land located in the James Lowery 1/3 League, A-
275, City of Rosenberg, Fort Bend County, Texas, also being a partial replat of Reserve “A-2”, Block 1, Bayou 
Crossing Section Two Partial Replat No. One, recorded at Plat No. 20130258, F.B.C.P.R., and a partial replat of 
Lots 3 & 4, J. M. Donley Subdivision recorded at Vol. 1, Pg. 20, F.B.C.P.R.  The motion carried unanimously by 
those present. 

4. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF BONBROOK PLANTATION NORTH 
SECTION THIRTEEN, A SUBDIVISION OF 19.476 ACRES OF LAND SITUATED IN THE WILEY MARTIN 
LEAGUE, ABSTRACT 56, FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS; 88 LOTS, 3 RESERVES (1.031 ACRES), 3 BLOCKS. 

Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen is located off of Reading Road, 
adjacent to Bridlewood Estates, in the east central part of Bonbrook Plantation.  The proposed Plat contains 19.476 acres, 
88 residential lots, and three (3) reserves consisting of 1.031 acres. 

The proposed lots are a minimum of fifty feet (50’) in width and 6,000 square feet in size.  This is in accordance with the 
approved Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation, which calls for fifty-foot (50’) lots in this location of the development.  The 
Land Plan is attached for reference. 

The proposed Preliminary Plat is not in conflict with any applicable regulations.  Staff recommends approval of the 
Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen. 

Key Discussion: 
� Mr. Tanner presented the item and reviewed the Executive Summary.

Action Taken:  Commissioner Poldrack moved, seconded by Commission Phipps, to approve the Preliminary Plat 
of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen, a subdivision of 19.476 acres of land situated in the Wiley Martin 
League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas; 88 lots, 3 reserves (1.031 acres), 3 blocks.  The motion carried 
unanimously by those present. 

5. CONSIDERATION OF AND ACTION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT OF SUMMER LAKES SECTION SEVEN, 
BEING A SUBDIVISION OF 23.94 ACRES OUT OF THE W.M. LUSK SURVEY, A-276, IN THE CITY OF 
ROSENBERG, IN FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS (FORT BEND COUNTY MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT NO. 
144); 53 LOTS, 5 BLOCKS, 10 RESERVES (7.4627 ACRES). 

Executive Summary:  The Preliminary Plat of Summer Lakes Section Seven is located off of Reading Road and Round 
Lake Drive in the eastern portion of the Summer Lakes development.  The Plat consists of 23.94 acres, 53 residential lots, 
and ten (10) reserves containing 7.4627 acres. 

reneel
Rectangle



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

10 Presentation on Proposed Multi-Family Planned Unit Development 
 
MOTION 
 

Hear and discuss a presentation regarding a potential multi-family Planned Unit Development, and take 
action as necessary to direct staff. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff has no recommendation for this item. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
N/A City 4 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 
1. Juarez Correspondence – 07-18-14 
2. Airport Condominiums, A Condominium Development – 07-15-14 
3. Code Excerpt – Chapter 25, Article III, Division 5, Section 25-113 – Planned Unit Development 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

      City Engineer 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Mr. Thomas Juarez of J.B. Granada Construction has requested an opportunity to present a potential multi-
family Planned Unit Development (PUD) on Airport Avenue.  Specifically, the project would be located near the 
southwest corner of Airport Avenue and FM 2218 and would contain 203 units.  Mr. Juarez approached City staff 
regarding multi-family residential development of this location and was notified of the City’s parking requirements 
of four (4) spaces per one-bedroom unit, five (5) spaces per two-bedroom unit, and six (6) spaces per three-
bedroom unit.  The parking requirements would be prohibitive of this development as proposed.  Therefore it was 
communicated to Mr. Juarez that the project could only be done through a PUD, recommended by the Planning 
Commission and approved by City Council.  Before spending additional time on the project, it was recommended 
by staff that the concept be presented to the Planning Commission to receive direction.  It is important to note 
that the proposal is for owner-occupied condominiums as opposed to renter-occupied apartments; however, it 
would be difficult if not impossible for the City to regulate whether they are owner-occupied in the future.  If 
approved by the Planning Commission and City Council, the PUD would be subject to the West Fort Bend 
Management District standards. 
  
 
 





























PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 25 ‐ SUBDIVISIONS 

ARTICLE III. ‐ SUBDIVISION DESIGN REQUIREMENTS (STANDARDS) 

DIVISION 5. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

  Rosenberg, Texas, Code of Ordinances  Page 1 

DIVISION 5. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
Sec. 25-113. Planned unit development. 

 
 

Sec. 25-113. Planned unit development. 

A planned unit development (PUD) promotes the development of a tract of land in a unified manner 
and may allow for deviation from the development standards in this Code and in such other ordinances as 
may exist. Variances to the established criteria for lot widths, lot depths, building lines and location of 
open space may be considered for recommendation and approval as part of a PUD when the following 
requirements are met:  

(1) All single-family residential lots shall front on a public street right-of-way. 

(2) Provision shall be made for adequate separation between the fronts of buildings. 

(3) Lot widths and depths shall be adequate for residential construction in accordance with 
established building codes.  

(4) Building lines shall be established to provide adequate off-street parking for each residential 
unit.  

(5) Provision shall be made for compensating open space with the PUD. 

(6) Justification shall be made for the design of the subdivision. 

(7) A finding shall be made that there is no negative impact on health, safety or welfare in the area.  

(Ord. No. 2005-24, § 1, 10-18-05)  

reneel
Rectangle



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

11 Presentation on Proposed Multi-Family Planned Unit Development 
 
MOTION 
 

Hear and discuss a presentation by GSSW Real Estate Investments regarding a potential multi-family 
Planned Unit Development, and take action as necessary to direct staff. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff has no recommendation for this item. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
N/A City 2 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Sabin Correspondence – 07-23-14 
2. Presentation – Fountains of Rosenberg Phase II 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

      City Engineer 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Thomas W. Sabin, Jr., of GSSW Real Estate Investments has requested an opportunity to present a preliminary 
plan for a multi-family development, Fountains of Rosenberg Phase II, adjacent to the existing Fountains of 
Rosenberg multi-family development off of Fountains Drive, south of I-69.  The proposed addition would contain 
114 units.  Mr. Sabin contacted City staff regarding multi-family residential development of this location and was 
notified of the City’s parking requirements of four (4) spaces per one-bedroom unit, five (5) spaces per two-
bedroom unit, and six (6) spaces per three-bedroom unit.  Like the previous project, the parking requirements 
would be prohibitive of this development as proposed.  Therefore it was communicated to Mr. Sabin that the 
project could only be done through a PUD recommended by the Planning Commission and approved by City 
Council.  Before spending additional time on the project, it was suggested by staff that the concept be presented 
to the Planning Commission to receive direction.  Also, similar to the previous Agenda item, if approved by the 
Planning Commission and City Council, the PUD would be subject to the West Fort Bend Management District 
standards. 
  
 
 







FOUNTAINS OF ROSENBERG  

PHASE II 

Presented By: GSSW August 2014 

 

 



Rosenberg’s Benefits 

 The proposed site is ideally situated for 

a Phase II development as it shares 

common boundaries with the existing 

Fountains of Rosenberg. 

 The development will enhance the 

entrance into Seabourne Creek Nature 

Park.  

 The development will generate 

significant tax revenue. 

2 



Aerial Map 

Fountains of 

Rosenberg  

3 



Aerial Map 

Proposed Site 

4 



Proposed Site 
5 

Proposed 

Fountains of 

Rosenberg II Site  

Existing Fountains 

of Rosenberg 

Apartments 



Unit Tabulation 
6 



Site Plan 
7 



Site Elevation Plan 
8 



Previous Developments: 5225 Maple Ave 
9 



Previous Developments: Walker Ranch 
10 



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

12 Third Revision to Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on Exhibit C – Third Revision, a Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation, 
being 448.62 acres of land out of the Wiley Martin League, Abstract 56, Fort Bend County, Texas. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of Exhibit C – Third Revision, a Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
155 (Bonbrook Plantation) City and ETJ 4 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Exhibit C – Third Revision, a Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation 
2. Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation – 09-25-07 

 
APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP  
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Third Revision to the Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation contains 448.62 acres and 1,300 
residential lots.  Bonbrook Plantation (Fort Bend County MUD No. 155) is located on both the north and south 
sides of Reading Road between Benton Road and Bridlewood Estates in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ). 
 
It is important to note that, of the 1,300 lots suggested in the proposed, revised Development Plan, plats have 
already been recorded for 1,044 lots (or approximately 80 percent of the development).  Additionally, plats are in 
the review process for 176 lots.  The reason for the revised Development Plan is to change a 23.4-acre tract 
currently designated as multi-family residential to single-family residential, sixty-foot (60’) lots. 
 
The subject area is generally located at the northeast corner of Benton and Reading Roads.  The change 
represents a likely decrease in the density of the development.  Further, all proposed lots would comply with 
current standards.  Overall, 54 percent of the lots in the development will be sixty feet (60’) or greater in width at 
build-out, compared to only 42 percent per the previously-approved Land Plan. 
 
If recommended for approval by the Planning Commission, the next step would be City Council consideration of 
a Resolution amending this exhibit of the Development Agreement for MUD No. 155.  Following a detailed 
review, City staff finds no issues with the proposed amendment.  Single-family residential could be considered a 
better use for this location.  The area must still comply with all platting requirements, and preliminary and final 
plats must come before the Planning Commission.  Staff recommends the Planning Commission make a 
recommendation of approval to City Council for the Exhibit C – Third Revision, a Development Plan for Bonbrook 
Plantation. 
  
 
 



VICINITY MAP

N

N

EXHIBIT C - THIRD REVISION
A DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR

BONBROOK PLANTATION

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                    Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                          Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                         FRN-F-1386
                                                        T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501

BONBROOK PLANTATION, L.P.

BEAZER HOMES U.S.A



VICINITY MAP

N

N

EXHIBIT C - THIRD REVISION
A DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR

BONBROOK PLANTATION

LJA Engineering, Inc.
2929 Briarpark Drive                                    Phone  713.953.5200
Suite 600                                                          Fax  713.953.5026
Houston, Texas  77042                                         FRN-F-1386
                                                        T.B.P.L.S. Firm No. 10110501

BONBROOK PLANTATION, L.P.

BEAZER HOMES U.S.A





PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

13 Development Agreement for Fort Bend County MUD No. 184 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a recommendation to City Council regarding a Development Agreement 
with Dry Creek (Houston) ASLI VII, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in association with Fort 
Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 184. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the Development Agreement for MUD No. 184. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
184 ETJ N/A 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. MUD No. 184 Development Agreement without Exhibits 
 

APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP  
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Over the last several months, City staff has been in discussions with a developer regarding the development of 
an approximately 502.6-acre tract at the southwest corner of A. Meyers and Berdette Roads, immediately south 
of Bridlewood Estates.  The tract is largely in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ), with the exception of the City 
Limits abutting Dry Creek, and in proposed Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 184.  The 
Development Agreement is being brought to the Planning Commission to make a recommendation to City 
Council.  Please note that due to the size of the associated Exhibits, they have not been included in this packet in 
order to conserve supplies.  A print copy of the full Development Agreement and all Exhibits is available for 
review in the City Secretary’s office. 
 
Following are main points of the Agreement: 

1. The development will follow the City’s current “Subdivision” Ordinance and Design Standards for public 
infrastructure 

2. Plats will come before the Planning Commission and must comply with lot size and other applicable 
requirements. 

3. The development will meet the City’s current parkland dedication requirements, which require more 
amenities and parkland to be set aside than in the previous ordinance. 

4. The Development Agreement contains a safeguard regarding the improvement of A. Meyers Road.  It is 
currently anticipated that Fort Bend County will construct A. Meyers as a major thoroughfare; however if 
the County doesn’t commence work, the developer must construct the southern half or two (2) future 
eastbound lanes of the road in phases before the subdivision is platted (see Agreement for details). 

 
Overall, the development represents an improvement in terms of lot sizes and amenities compared to what could 
be developed in the City or its ETJ under the current ordinances.  City staff recommends that the Planning 
Commission recommend approval to City Council of the Development Agreement for Fort Bend County MUD 
No. 184. 
 



DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, TEXAS,  

AND DRY CREEK (HOUSTON) ASLI VII, LLC  



ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.01 Terms ..................................................................................................................... 2 
Section 1.02 Exhibits .................................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE II DEVELOPMENT PLAN, PLATTING, AND MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 3 
Section 2.01 Introduction ............................................................................................................ 3 
Section 2.02 Platting ................................................................................................................... 3 
Section 2.03 Municipal Utility District ....................................................................................... 4 
Section 2.04 Automatic Termination .......................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE III DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS AND APPLICABLE 
ORDINANCES ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Section 3.01 Regulatory Standards and Development Quality ................................................... 4 
Section 3.02 Water/Wastewater/Drainage Services ................................................................... 5 
Section 3.03 Design Standards for Public Improvements .......................................................... 7 
Section 3.04 Construction ........................................................................................................... 7 
Section 3.05 Service Capacity .................................................................................................... 8 
Section 3.06 Parks and Recreational Facilities ........................................................................... 8 
Section 3.07 Fire Protection Services ......................................................................................... 8 
Section 3.08 Road Facilities. ...................................................................................................... 9 
Section 3.09 Liability of Ultimate Consumer ........................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE IV ANNEXATION OF THE TRACT ........................................................................ 10 
Section 4.01 Annexation by the City ........................................................................................ 10 
Section 4.02 Strategic Partnership Agreement. ........................................................................ 10 
Section 4.03 Annexation of Land into the District. .................................................................. 10 

ARTICLE V PROVISIONS FOR DESIGNATED MORTGAGEE ............................................ 10 
Section 5.01 Notice to Designated Mortgagee ......................................................................... 10 
Section 5.02 Right of Designated Mortgagee to Cure Default ................................................. 10 
Section 5.03 Designated Mortgagee ......................................................................................... 10 

ARTICLE VI PROVISIONS FOR DEVELOPER ....................................................................... 11 
Section 6.01 Waiver of Actions Under Private Real Property Rights Preservation Act .......... 11 
Section 6.02 Developer's Right to Continue Development ...................................................... 11 

ARTICLE VII MATERIAL BREACH, NOTICE AND REMEDIES ......................................... 12 
Section 7.01 Material Breach of Agreement............................................................................. 12 
Section 7.02 Notice of Developer's Default .............................................................................. 13 
Section 7.03 Notice of City's Default ....................................................................................... 13 
Section 7.04 Mediation ............................................................................................................. 14 
Section 7.05 Remedies .............................................................................................................. 14 

ARTICLE VIII BINDING AGREEMENT, TERM, AMENDMENT, AND ASSIGNMENT .... 14 
Section 8.01 Beneficiaries ........................................................................................................ 14 
Section 8.02 Term ..................................................................................................................... 15 
Section 8.03 Termination .......................................................................................................... 15 
Section 8.04 Assignment or Sale .............................................................................................. 15 
Section 8.05 Transfer of Control of Developer ........................................................................ 15 

ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ..................................................................... 15 
Section 9.01 Notice ................................................................................................................... 15 



iii 

Section 9.02 Time ..................................................................................................................... 16 
Section 9.03 Severability .......................................................................................................... 16 
Section 9.04 Waiver .................................................................................................................. 17 
Section 9.05 Applicable Law and Venue .................................................................................. 17 
Section 9.06 Reservation of Rights ........................................................................................... 17 
Section 9.07 Further Documents............................................................................................... 17 
Section 9.08 Payment Guarantee. ............................................................................................. 17 
Section 9.09 Incorporation of Exhibits and Other Documents by Reference ........................... 17 
Section 9.10 Effect of State and Federal Laws ......................................................................... 17 
Section 9.11 Authority for Execution ....................................................................................... 17 



J:\Rosenberg\MUD 184 proposed\DA\FB184 Development Agreement final 07-30-14.docx 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, TEXAS,  
AND DRY CREEK (HOUSTON) ASLI VII, LLC 

 

This Development Agreement (the "Agreement") is made and entered into as of 
_______________________, 2014, by THE CITY OF ROSENBERG, TEXAS, a home rule 
municipality in Fort Bend County, Texas, acting by and through its governing body, the City 
Council of Rosenberg, Texas (the "City"); and DRY CREEK (HOUSTON) ASLI VII, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company (the "Developer”).  

RECITALS  

The City is a home rule city and municipal corporation that provides a full-range of 
governmental services to its citizens.  

The Developer owns approximately 502.46 acres of land located partially within the 
City’s boundaries and partially in the City's extraterritorial jurisdiction, which acreage is more 
particularly described in Exhibit A (the "Tract"). The City wishes to provide for the orderly, 
safe, and healthful development of land within the City's extraterritorial jurisdiction as provided 
in Chapter 42, Texas Local Government Code.  

Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 184 (the “District”) has been created to 
encompass the Tract.  The Developer intends to develop the Tract for single-family residential 
and commercial uses. The development will occur in phases, and the Developer anticipates that 
each phase will be platted separately. 

The Developer desires to develop a high quality single-family community on the Tract; 
however, the Developer represents that the feasibility of the development of the Tract requires an 
agreement providing for long-term certainty in regulatory requirements and development 
standards by the City regarding the Tract.  

The City and the Developer agree that the development of the Tract can best proceed 
pursuant to a development agreement and pursuant to the Service Agreement (defined 
hereinafter) of even date which is to be assigned to the District after it is confirmed by the voters 
of the District, which agreement is integral to the development of the Tract. 

It is the intent of this Agreement to establish certain restrictions and commitments 
imposed and made in connection with the development of the Tract. The City and the Developer 
are proceeding in reliance on the enforceability of this Agreement.  

 
AGREEMENT 

 
 NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual agreements, covenants, and 
conditions contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the City and the 
Developer agree as follows: 
 



2 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 1.01 Terms. Unless the context requires otherwise, and in addition to the terms 

defined above, the following terms and phrases used in this Agreement shall have the meanings 
set out below:  

City means the City of Rosenberg, Texas.  

City Council means the City Council of the City or any successor governing body.  

Commission means the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality and its successors.  

County means Fort Bend County, Texas.  

Designated Mortgagee means, whether one or more, any mortgagee or security interest 
holder that has been designated to have certain rights pursuant to Article V hereof.  

Developer means Dry Creek (Houston) ASLI VII, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company or its assignee.  

Development Ordinance means the City's development ordinance as defined in Section 
3.01 of this Agreement.  

Development Plan means the plan for the proposed development of the Tract, a copy of 
which is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit C, as it may be revised from time to time in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and with City approval of any material change, as 
determined by the City.  

District means Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 184, a municipal utility 
district duly created by special act of the Texas Legislature, effective September 1, 2013, that 
encompasses the Tract, and whose purposes are limited to supplying a public water supply, 
sanitary sewer services, drainage services, fire protection, roads, and/or parks and recreational 
services to the areas within its boundaries.  

ETJ means the extraterritorial jurisdiction of the City.  

Fire Protection Services Agreement means the agreement for the City to provide fire 
protection services that the District is to enter into as provided in the Service Agreement. 

Groundwater Reduction Plan Participation Agreement means the groundwater reduction 
plan participation agreement that the District is to enter into as provided in the Service 
Agreement. 

HOA means the homeowners association for the homes within the District. 

Impact Fee means the fee that is a one-time charge to Developer by the City for each 
Equivalent Single-family Connection platted to cover the capital costs incurred by the City 
related to the provision of water supply and related to sewage treatment facilities, provided that 



3 

the City provides Wastewater Services to the District. 

Person means any individual, partnership, association, firm, trust, estate, public or private 
corporation, or any other legal entity whatsoever.  

Planning Commission means the Planning Commission of the City.  

Service Agreement means the Water Supply and Wastewater Services Agreement between 
the City of Rosenberg, Texas, and Dry Creek (Houston) ASLI VII, LLC, dated 
____________________, 2014.  

SPA means a strategic partnership agreement between the City and the District that is 
authorized by Section 43.0751, Texas Local Government Code. 

Tract means all the land described in the attached Exhibit A and also means any other 
property annexed into the District and approved by City Council for such annexation, to be 
developed by Developer. 

Ultimate Consumer means the purchaser of a tract or lot within the Tract who does not 
intend to resell, subdivide, or develop the tract or lot in the ordinary course of business. 

Wastewater Service Date means the date that the City begins providing Wastewater 
Services to the Tract. 

Water Plant Site means a tract of land in a location mutually agreed upon by Developer 
and the City within the Tract that is no greater than two (2) acres to be used by the City for a 
water plant. 

Section 1.02 Exhibits. The following exhibits are attached to this Agreement as though 
fully incorporated herein:  
 

Exhibit A The Tract 
Exhibit B Development Ordinance 
Exhibit C Development Plan 
Exhibit D Memorandum of Agreement 
Exhibit E Form of Agreement for Fire Protection Services 
Exhibit F Form of Strategic Partnership Agreement 

 
ARTICLE II 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN, PLATTING, AND MUNICIPAL UTILITY DISTRICT 
 

Section 2.01 Introduction. The Tract is to be developed as a single-family community. 
The land uses within the Tract shall be typical of a single-family development with single-family 
residential, commercial, institutional, and recreational facilities.  

Section 2.02 Platting. The Developer is required to plat any subdivision of the Tract in 
accordance with the requirements of the Development Ordinance. The Developer hereby 
acknowledges and agrees that the City's final approval of any plat of land within the Tract 



4 

does not constitute in any way the City's reservation, commitment, or statement of availability 
of water, sanitary sewer, or stormwater drainage capacity or services for such land. The 
provision of such utilities to the Tract is the subject of the Service Agreement.  

Section 2.03 Municipal Utility District. Upon receipt of a petition requesting consent to 
the creation of the District from the landowners within the District, the City will adopt a 
resolution or ordinance consenting to the creation of the District and the issuance of water, 
sewer, drainage, park and road bonds by the District, subject to the consent conditions set out in 
the City’s ordinances.  

Section 2.04 Automatic Termination. The City shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement upon which action it shall be of no further force and effect if the Developer has not 
initiated construction of any infrastructure within the Tract three (3) years from the date of this 
Agreement.  

ARTICLE III 
DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS AND APPLICABLE ORDINANCES  

 
Section 3.01 Regulatory Standards and Development Quality. The City and the 

Developer agree that one of the primary purposes of this Agreement is to provide for quality 
development of the Tract and certainty as to the regulatory requirements applicable to the 
development of the Tract throughout the development process. Feasibility of the development of 
the Tract is dependent upon a predictable regulatory environment and stability in the projected 
land uses. In exchange for Developer's performance of the obligations under this Agreement to 
develop the Tract in accordance with certain standards and to provide the overall quality of 
development described in this Agreement, the City agrees to the extent allowed by law that it 
will not impose or attempt to impose any moratoriums on building or growth within the Tract.  

By the terms of this Agreement, the City and the Developer intend to establish 
development rules and regulations which will ensure a quality, unified development, yet afford 
the Developer predictability of regulatory requirements throughout the term of this Agreement. 
The City and the Developer hereby agree that "Development Ordinance," as used in this 
Agreement, means Chapter 25 of the City's Code of Ordinances, in the form attached to this 
Agreement as Exhibit B and not including any future amendments or changes; provided, 
however, ten (10) years from and after the date of this Agreement, Development Ordinance shall 
mean the City's then current ordinance regulating subdivisions, including any future amendments 
and changes. For purposes of determining which development regulations apply to a particular 
plat, the Development Ordinance shall be the one in effect, pursuant to the provisions of this 
Agreement, on the date of the Developer's submittal of a preliminary plat to the City. The 
development regulations and guidelines established in the Development Ordinance include 
density and land use regulations, a general land use plan, a circulation plan, a parks and 
recreation plan, and subdivision regulations. The City and the Developer agree that any City 
ordinance, whether heretofore or hereafter adopted, that addresses matters that are covered by 
this Agreement shall not be enforced by the City within the Tract, except for the Development 
Ordinance to the extent expressed in this Agreement, and that the provisions of this Agreement 
govern development of the Tract.  



5 

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, the parties agree that the City's 
plat filing fees, review fees, and inspection fees, as the City may amend them from time to time, 
shall be applied to the Developer and the Tract; provided, however, any such amendments 
adopted by the City Council shall apply uniformly throughout the City and its extraterritorial 
jurisdiction. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City’s plumbing code as it is amended from time to 
time shall apply to the Tract and be adopted by the District. 

Section 3.02 Water/Wastewater/Drainage Services. (a)  The plan for an integrated 
regional water supply, storage, and distribution system; wastewater collection and treatment 
system; and stormwater control and drainage system to serve the Tract shall be developed in 
accordance with the Development Ordinance, City design standards, and the Service 
Agreement. 

(b) The number of lots will not exceed a number that can be served by the number of 
Equivalent Single-family Connections of Water Supply Services to be provided to the District 
under the Service Agreement. 

(c) The Developer will purchase water to serve the District from the City pursuant to 
the Services Agreement. The Developer can immediately apply for a wastewater discharge 
permit for an interim wastewater treatment plant to be located within the boundaries of the 
District, and the City will not object to this permit.  The Developer acknowledges that the City 
prefers that the Developer not construct a wastewater treatment plant to serve the District, and 
the Developer agrees to negotiate in good faith with the owners of the multi-district wastewater 
treatment plant located within the boundaries of Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District 
No. 152 to obtain both interim wastewater service and wastewater service capacity to serve the 
ultimate wastewater needs of the District.  If the Developer determines that Developer cannot 
reach an agreement for interim service or permanent capacity on reasonable economic terms 
and in a reasonable time frame, the Developer will notify the City in writing and will meet with 
the City to discuss the terms offered and the failure to reach agreement timely.  If the City 
agrees that terms are not reasonable and/or that an agreement cannot be reached and service 
cannot be provided within a time frame that will allow the Developer to proceed with 
development in a timely manner, the City will agree that the District may construct an interim 
wastewater treatment plant within the boundaries of the District, subject to approval of the 
wastewater discharge permit by the TCEQ.  In the event that the District constructs an interim 
wastewater treatment plant, the District agrees that it will discontinue using the interim 
wastewater treatment plant, will contract with the City for wastewater treatment service for the 
District, will construct the facilities needed to connect the District’s wastewater system to the 
City’s wastewater system, and will send all wastewater discharges from the District to the 
City’s wastewater treatment, provided it is economically feasible to do so.  The City agrees to 
give the District two (2) years written notice of the anticipated Wastewater Service Date and 
agrees that the District will not be required to take Wastewater Services from the City prior to 
the expiration of such two year period.  The District will remove such interim plant within six 
(6) months after the Wastewater Service Date.  The parties acknowledge that it is not possible at 
this time to designate the point of connection to the City’s system as that point will be 
determined based upon development to occur in the future.  Therefore, the parties agree that it 



6 

will be considered economically feasible provided that the point of connection to the City’s 
system is no further than ¾ of a mile from any point on the District’s boundary.  The parties 
further agree that this sewer line connecting to the point of connection to the City’s system will 
be constructed by the District/Developer in the City or County road right-of-way or, if it is not 
to be constructed in the City or County road right-of-way, the City will provide easements to the 
District that are necessary for construction of this sewer line.  In addition, if the District intends 
to construct a permanent wastewater treatment plant, the District will notify the City of such 
intent prior to beginning the design of the permanent wastewater treatment plant.  Within one 
hundred eighty (180) days of receipt of such notice, the City will notify the District in writing 
whether the City elects to provide Wastewater Services to the Tract and notify the District of a 
Wastewater Service Date that is no sooner than two (2) years after the date of such notice. 

(d) Developer agrees that, after receipt of a written request from the City delivered to 
Developer no more than three (3) years from the date of this Agreement, Developer will convey 
(i) a Water Plant Site to the City, and (ii) if applicable, an easement to the City providing access 
from Meyers Road to the Water Plant Site.  The conveyance instruments will be in a form 
reasonably acceptable to the City and will provide that the City will not be subject to paying any 
annual HOA special assessments or other types of fees charged by the HOA within the 
development.  The conveyance will be made within ninety (90) days of Developer’s receipt of 
the written request.  

(e) The Developer will work with the District to install pipes, valves, spray heads 
and related appurtenances that have been approved by the Commission for effluent reclaimed 
water for all irrigation systems on at least 75% of District property within the current 
boundaries of the District that can be served with effluent reclaimed water (such as irrigation in 
boulevards, parks, etc.).  The District, the Developer and the City will mutually agree upon 
multiple points of connection.  The City must approve the plans for such systems.  The parties 
agree to work together to design and operate the District’s irrigation systems so as to maximize 
the use of the effluent reclaimed water as such use affords credits against the groundwater 
reduction requirements of the Fort Bend Subsidence District, which credits shall be the property 
of the City to use for the benefit of the participants in the City’s Groundwater Reduction Plan.  
The District will purchase effluent reclaimed water from the City if the City delivers effluent 
reclaimed water to a point of connection and in a sufficient amount to serve the District’s 
irrigation needs for areas served by that point of connection.  The effluent reclaimed water will 
be pressurized or the parties will agree on an alternate effluent delivery system that is not 
pressurized. The District is allowed to install and use potable water systems for irrigation in an 
area until such time as the City delivers effluent to the point of connection serving such area in a 
sufficient amount to serve the District’s irrigation needs for such area.  With respect to either an 
interim wastewater treatment plant or a permanent wastewater treatment plant constructed by 
the District, if the District will generate sufficient effluent to make it economically feasible for 
the District to provide Type 1 reclaimed water for its irrigation purposes, the District agrees to 
obtain authorization from the Commission for Type 1 Reuse pursuant to Chapter 210 of the 
Commission rules and will provide Type 1 reclaimed water for its irrigation purposes.  Credits 
against the Groundwater Reduction Plan shall be the property of the City to use for the benefit 
of the participants in the City’s Groundwater Reduction Plan.   



7 

(f) The Developer may enter into a reimbursement agreement with the District to 
seek reimbursement for the costs of the water, wastewater, and drainage facilities referenced in 
this Section 3.02, as well as, to the extent allowed by law, the park and recreational facilities 
referenced in Section 3.06 below, the fire protection facilities referenced in Section 3.07 below, 
and the street and road facilities referenced in Section 3.08 below. 

Section 3.03 Design Standards for Public Improvements. The Developer shall provide 
streets, drainage, utilities, parks and recreational facilities according to the Development Plan at 
Developer's sole cost; provided, however, the Developer may receive reimbursement of certain 
eligible costs from the District, as referenced in Section 3.02. The Developer shall provide 
written certification to the City from a professional engineer registered in the state of Texas that 
the City's then current design criteria for streets, paving, drainage, water, wastewater and park 
improvements have been met. Subject to such certification from a registered professional 
engineer and approval of the plans by the City Engineer, no approval by the Planning 
Commission or the City Council shall be required.  

To the extent allowed by law, the City agrees to modify its regulations for the 
construction of public improvements only as provided in this paragraph. During the term of this 
agreement, the City may modify, supplement, or amend the City Design Standards to make 
them consistent with generally acceptable standards within Fort Bend County, Texas. All such 
modifications, supplement, and amendments to the Design Standards shall be uniformly applied 
to all development governed by the Development Ordinance. The criteria and construction 
standards for drainage facilities and improvements shall be consistent with criteria and standards 
imposed by the Fort Bend County Drainage District as they may be amended by Fort Bend 
County Drainage District from time to time.  The Developer will comply with changes as set 
forth in this section. 

Section 3.04 Construction. The water, wastewater, and drainage improvements to serve 
the Tract (the "Facilities") shall be constructed by or on behalf of the Developer at the 
Developer's expense and shall be designed using the City's standard criteria. The Developer and 
the City acknowledge that they are entering into the Service Agreement which provides, among 
other things, for the construction of a 16-inch regional water line along Benton from Reading to 
A. Meyers Road (the “Benton Waterline”) and a water line along A. Meyers Road from the 
connection point with the Benton Water line to the District boundary (the “District Waterline”), 
both lines to include related appurtenances.  The Benton Waterline and the District Waterline are 
referred to collectively as the “Improvements.”  The Developer shall be responsible for the 
engineering and construction of the Improvements. The Developer agrees that it will provide the 
necessary engineering and construction for the Improvements, including all necessary 
appurtenances, and the City agrees to offset the engineering and construction costs of the Benton 
Waterline against Impact Fees for water assessed against the Developer in accordance with 
Section 29-282 of the City’s Code of Ordinances. No credit will be given for the District 
Waterline.  Before commencing construction of the Improvements, the Developer must receive 
written approval from the City of the plans and specifications for the Improvements.  Upon 
written approval of the plans and specifications, the Developer may proceed to construct the 
Improvements, provided however, that the contract for the Benton Waterline shall be 
competitively bid and awarded in accordance with the rules applicable to the District.  The 
Developer shall execute the construction contract and shall pay the contractor upon receipt of 



8 

written pay estimates.  Also before beginning construction on the Improvements, the Developer 
shall provide the City with copies of payment and performance bonds that comply with all 
applicable requirements of law, specifically including the bond requirements of Texas 
Government Code Chapter 2253 or, if applicable, Chapter 53, Texas Property Code, with a copy 
of a Certificate of Insurance reflecting that the contractor has general liability and/or excess 
coverage of at least $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate coverage. The City 
shall have the right to inspect the construction of the Improvements. Upon completion of the 
Improvements, (i) the City shall inspect the same and shall note any deficiencies in the 
construction of the Improvements; (ii) the Developer shall convey the completed Improvements 
and any right-of-way for the Improvements to the City, subject to the Developer's right to 
capacity in such Improvements and subject to the City's acceptance of the conveyance of such 
Improvements; and (iii) the City shall be responsible for the operation and maintenance of the 
Improvements. The Developer shall warrant the Improvements or cause any construction 
contract warranty to run to the City for a period of one year after final completion of the 
Improvements and acceptance by the City.  

Section 3.05 Service Capacity. Subject to the Developer's construction of water, 
wastewater, and drainage improvements to serve the Tract in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 3.04, the City shall acknowledge and reserve to the Developer service capacity in such 
improvements to the extent of the Developer's share of funding for such improvements; provided 
that, the City’s reservation of capacity in the Benton Water Line to the Developer shall be 
limited by the maximum number of Equivalent Single-family Connections of Water Supply 
Services provided for in section 2.4 of the Services Agreement.   

Section 3.06 Parks and Recreational Facilities. (a) The Developer will satisfy the 
parkland dedication requirements under Chapter 25, Article IV of the City Code of Ordinances.  

(b) The City acknowledges and agrees that the Developer may make provisions for public 
park and recreational facilities to serve the Tract to be financed, developed, and maintained by 
the District, to the extent authorized by state law. The Developer agrees that any such amenities 
may be dedicated to a property owners association and/or to the District for ownership and 
operation and shall not be the responsibility of the City unless and until the City annexes the 
Tract, in which case the amenities owned by the District would become the property of the City. 
However, sites for stormwater detention systems shall be conveyed to and operated and 
maintained by the District. Notwithstanding the foregoing, prior to the first connection to the 
Water System within the Tract being made, the Developer shall enter into a contract with the 
homeowners association within the District, or other entity acceptable to the City, but referred to 
as "HOA" in this subsection (b). Said contract shall provide that the land within the District shall 
have reserved stormwater detention capacity within the system and shall further provide that if 
the District will be dissolved pursuant to any applicable law, the HOA, prior to the effective date 
of dissolution, will accept conveyance of the sites for stormwater detention systems in fee from 
the District, it being understood and agreed that under no conditions will the City own, operate, 
or maintain any stormwater detention facilities.  

Section 3.07 Fire Protection Services. The Developer will cause fire protection services 
to be provided for the Tract by using its best efforts to cause the District to enter into a separate 
written agreement with the City in accordance with the Service Agreement, subject to the 



9 

District obtaining all necessary approvals.  The Developer will pay all costs of the District to 
enter into such agreement.  

Section 3.08 Road Facilities.  (a)  The Development Plan reflects proposed streets. 

(b) In the event that the County has not constructed the southern half (the two future 
eastbound lanes) of A. Meyers Road (50-foot right-of-way width) adjacent to the boundary of the 
District (the “A. Meyers Road Portion”) in accordance with the following schedule, the 
Developer will construct segments of the A. Meyers Road Portion as set forth below: 

(i) Upon platting of 50% of the single-family lots, the District and/or the 
Developer will construct 50% of the length of the A. Meyers Road Portion 
prior to the recordation of the subsequent platted section of the 
development within the District. 

(ii) Upon platting of 75% of the single-family lots, the District and/or the 
Developer will construct an additional 25% of the length of the A. Meyers 
Road Portion prior to the recordation of the subsequent platted section of 
the development within the District. 

(iii) Upon platting of 90% of the single-family lots, the District and/or the 
Developer will construct the final 25% of the A. Meyers Road Portion 
prior to the recordation of the last platted section of the development 
within the District. 

(c) The Developer will dedicate right-of-way to provide half of the ultimate proposed 
100-foot right-of-way for A. Meyers Road.  The Developer will dedicate half of the additional 
right-of-way to provide the ultimate 100-foot right-of-way with the remainder to be dedicated by 
the developer/owner of the tract north of A. Meyers Road.  The dedication will be made as land 
containing such right-of-way is platted, provided that if the County elects to build the A. Meyers 
Road Portion and all right-of-way has not been dedicated by plat, the Developer agrees to convey 
such right-of-way within ninety (90) days of receipt of written request from either the City or the 
County. 

(d) The Developer will also construct the portion of A. Meyers Road (50-foot right-
of-way width) from the west property line of the undeveloped tract located southwest of the 
intersection of A. Meyers Road and Berdett Road to Berdett Road (the “A. Meyers Road/Berdett 
Road Portion”) provided that the City or the County obtains the right-of-way for the A. Meyers 
Road/Berdett Road Portion.  After the Developer’s receipt of written notice that the right-of-way 
has been acquired, the Developer will include the A. Meyers Road/Berdett Road Portion in the 
construction contract for the next segment of road to be constructed hereunder.  If the Developer 
has not received written notice that the right-of-way has been acquired at least ninety (90) days 
before the District and/or the Developer awards a contract for the final segment of the A. Meyers 
Road Portion to the City or County, the Developer will not be required to construct the A. 
Meyers Road/Berdett Road Portion. 

(e) Neither the Developer nor the District will be required by the City to construct 
any roadway improvements outside of the boundaries of the District other than in accordance 
with this Agreement. 



10 

Section 3.09 Liability of Ultimate Consumer. Ultimate Consumers shall have no 
liability for the failure of the Developer to comply with the terms of this Agreement and shall 
only be liable for their own failure to comply with the recorded declaration of restrictive 
covenants and land use restrictions applicable to the use of their tract or lot.  

ARTICLE IV 
ANNEXATION OF THE TRACT 

 
Section 4.01 Annexation by the City. The City agrees to annex the Tract only in 

accordance with the SPA, when in effect.   

Section 4.02 Strategic Partnership Agreement.  Section 43.0751, Tex. Local Gov't 
Code (the "Act"), provides for the negotiation and implementation of "strategic partnership 
agreements" between cities and municipal utility districts, whereby the continued existence of 
the district and various areas of governmental cooperation may be provided for by agreement. 
The Developer agrees to work with the District to enter into a strategic partnership agreement 
between the City and the District in a form substantially similar to the form of agreement 
attached to the Service Agreement.  

Section 4.03 Annexation of Land into the District.  The parties agree that if any land is 
annexed into the District following consent of the City, the development of such land shall be 
subject to this Agreement.  In addition, no development within the annexed land may take place 
until the Developer has submitted and obtained City approval of a new Development Plan for the 
District which includes the annexed land.  Such approved Development Plan will be signed by 
both parties and dates and will become the new Exhibit C to this Agreement.  
 

ARTICLE V 
PROVISIONS FOR DESIGNATED MORTGAGEE 

 
Section 5.01 Notice to Designated Mortgagee. Pursuant to Section 5.03, any Designated 

Mortgagee shall be entitled to simultaneous notice any time that a provision of this Agreement 
requires notice to Developer.  

Section 5.02 Right of Designated Mortgagee to Cure Default. Any Designated 
Mortgagee shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cure any default in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 5.03 and Article VII.  

Section 5.03 Designated Mortgagee. At any time after execution and recordation in the 
Real Property Records of Fort Bend County, Texas, of any mortgage, deed of trust, or security 
agreement encumbering the Tract or any portion thereof, the Developer (a) shall notify the City 
in writing that the mortgage, deed of trust, or security agreement has been given and executed by 
the Developer, and (b) may change the Developer's address for notice pursuant to Section 9.01 to 
include the address of the Designated Mortgagee to which it desires copies of notice to be 
provided.  

At such time as a release of any such lien is filed in the Real Property Records of Fort 
Bend County, Texas, and the Developer gives notice of the release to the City as provided 



11 

herein, all rights and obligations of the City with respect to the Designated Mortgagee under this 
Agreement shall terminate.  

The City agrees that it may not exercise any remedies of default hereunder unless and 
until the Designated Mortgagee has been given thirty (30) days written notice and opportunity to 
cure (or commences to cure and thereafter continues in good faith and with due diligence to 
complete the cure) the default complained of. Whenever consent is required to amend a 
particular provision of this Agreement or to terminate this Agreement, the City and the 
Developer agree that this Agreement may not be so amended or terminated without the consent 
of such Designated Mortgagee; provided, however, consent of a Designated Mortgagee shall 
only be required to the extent the lands mortgaged to such Designated Mortgagee would be 
affected by such amendment or termination.  

Upon foreclosure (or deed in lieu of foreclosure) by a Designated Mortgagee of its 
security instrument executed by the Developer encumbering the Tract, such Designated 
Mortgagee (and its affiliates) and their successors and assigns shall not be liable under this 
Agreement for any defaults that are in existence at the time of such foreclosure (or deed in lieu of 
foreclosure). Furthermore, so long as such Designated Mortgagee (or its affiliates) is only 
maintaining the Tract and marketing it for sale and is not actively involved in the development of 
the Tract, such Designated Mortgagee (and its affiliates) shall not be liable under this 
Agreement. Upon foreclosure (or deed in lieu of foreclosure) by a Designated Mortgagee, any 
development of the property shall be in accordance with this Agreement.  

If the Designated Mortgagee and/or any of its affiliates and their respective successors 
and assigns, undertakes development activity, the Designated Mortgagee shall be bound by the 
terms of this Agreement. However, under no circumstances shall such Designated Mortgagee 
ever have liability for matters arising either prior to, or subsequent to, its actual period of 
ownership of the Tract, or a portion thereof, acquired through foreclosure (or deed in lieu of 
foreclosure).  

ARTICLE VI 
PROVISIONS FOR DEVELOPER 

 
Section 6.01 Waiver of Actions Under Private Real Property Rights Preservation 

Act. The Developer hereby waives its right, if any, to assert any causes of action against the City 
accruing under the Private Real Property Rights Preservation Act, Chapter 2007, Texas 
Government Code (the "Act"), that the City's execution or performance of this Agreement or any 
authorized amendment or supplements thereto may constitute, either now or in the future, a 
"Taking" of Developer's, Developer's grantee's, or a grantee's successor's "Private Real 
Property," as such terms are defined in the Act. Provided, however, that this waiver does not 
apply to, and the Developer and Developer's grantees and successors do not waive their rights 
under the Act to assert a claim under the Act for any action taken by the City beyond the scope 
of this Agreement which otherwise may give rise to a cause of action under the Act.  

Section 6.02 Developer's Right to Continue Development. The City and the Developer 
hereby acknowledge and agree that, subject to Section 8.04 of this Agreement, the Developer 
may sell all or a portion of the Tract to one or more Persons who shall be bound by this 



12 

Agreement and perform the obligations of Developer hereunder, provided that the Developer 
shall retain ultimate responsibility for complying with the terms of this Agreement unless the 
City agrees in writing that the purchaser shall be responsible for and perform the Developer’s 
obligations. 

ARTICLE VII 
MATERIAL BREACH, NOTICE AND REMEDIES 

  
Section 7.01 Material Breach of Agreement. It is the intention of the parties to this 

Agreement that the Tract be developed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and that 
Developer follow the development plans as set out in the Development Plan.  

(a) The parties acknowledge and agree that any major deviation from the Development 
Plan and the concepts of development contained therein and any substantial deviation by 
Developer from the material terms of this Agreement would frustrate the intent of this 
Agreement, and therefore, would be a material breach of this Agreement. A material breach of 
this Agreement by Developer shall be deemed to have occurred in any of the following 
instances:  

1. Developer's failure to develop the Tract in compliance with the approved  
Development Plan, as from time to time amended; or Developer's failure to secure the City's 
approval of any material or significant modification or amendment to the Development Plan;  

2. Failure of the Developer or the District to approve or consent to any annexation of 
territory by the City in accordance with this Agreement; or  

3. Failure of the Developer to substantially comply with a provision of this 
Agreement or a City ordinance applicable to the Tract.  

(b) The parties agree that nothing in this Agreement can compel the Developer to proceed 
or continue to develop the Tract within any time period.  

(c) The parties acknowledge and agree that any substantial deviation by the City from the 
material terms of this Agreement would frustrate the intent of this Agreement and, therefore, 
would be a material breach of this Agreement. A material breach of this Agreement by the City 
shall be deemed to have occurred in any of the following instances:  

1. The imposition or attempted imposition of any moratorium on building or growth 
on the Tract prohibited by State law or this Agreement;  

2. The imposition of a requirement to provide regionalization or oversizing of public 
utilities through some method substantially or materially different than the plan set forth in this 
Agreement;  

3. An attempt by the City to annex, in whole or in part, the property within the 
District prior to the occurrence of the conditions set forth in Section 4.01 of this Agreement; 

4. An attempt by the City to enforce any City ordinance within the Tract that is 
inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; 



13 

5. An attempt by the City to require modification or amendment of the Development 
Plan where it complies with the requirements of this Agreement; or  

6. An attempt by the City to unreasonably withhold approval of a plat of land within 
the Tract that complies with the requirements of this Agreement.  

In the event that a party to this Agreement believes that another party has, by act or 
omission, committed a material breach of this Agreement, the provisions of this Article VII shall 
provide the remedies for such default.  

Section 7.02 Notice of Developer's Default.  

(a) The City shall notify the Developer and each Designated Mortgagee in writing of an 
alleged failure by the Developer to comply with a provision of this Agreement, which notice 
shall specify the alleged failure with reasonable particularity. The alleged defaulting Developer 
shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice or such longer period of time as the City 
may specify in such notice, either cure such alleged failure or, in a written response to the City, 
either present facts and arguments in refutation or excuse of such alleged failure or state that 
such alleged failure will be cured and set forth the method and time schedule for accomplishing 
such cure.  

(b) The City shall determine (i) whether a failure to comply with a provision has 
occurred; (ii) whether such failure is excusable; and (iii) whether such failure has been cured or 
will be cured by the alleged defaulting Developer or a Designated Mortgagee. The alleged 
defaulting Developer shall make available to the City, if requested, any records, documents or 
other information necessary to make the determination.  

(c) In the event that the City determines that such failure has not occurred. or that such 
failure either has been or will be cured in a manner and in accordance with a schedule reasonably 
satisfactory to the City, or that such failure is excusable, such determination shall conclude the 
investigation.  

(d) If the City determines that a failure to comply with a provision has occurred and that 
such failure is not excusable and has not been or will not be cured by the alleged defaulting 
Developer or a Designated Mortgagee in a manner and in accordance with a schedule reasonably 
satisfactory to the City, then the City Council may proceed to mediation under Section 7.04 and 
subsequently exercise the applicable remedy under Section 7.05.  

Section 7.03 Notice of City's Default.  

(a) The Developer shall notify the City in writing of an alleged failure by the City to 
comply with a provision of this Agreement, which notice shall specify the alleged failure with 
reasonable particularity. The City shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice or 
such longer period of time as the Developer may specify in such notice, either cure such alleged 
failure or, in a written response to the Developer, either present facts and arguments in refutation 
or excuse of such alleged failure or state that such alleged failure will be cured and set forth the 
method and time schedule for accomplishing such cure.  



14 

(b) The Developer shall determine (i) whether a failure to comply with a provision has 
occurred; (ii) whether such failure is excusable; and (iii) whether such failure has been cured or 
will be cured by the City. The City shall make available to the Developer, if requested, any 
records, documents or other information necessary to make the determination.  

(c) In the event that the Developer determines that such failure has not occurred or that 
such failure either has been or will be cured in a manner and in accordance with a schedule 
reasonably satisfactory to the Developer, or that such failure is excusable, such determination 
shall conclude the investigation.  

(d) If the Developer determines that a failure to comply with a provision has occurred and 
that such failure is not excusable and has not been or will not be cured by the City in a manner 
and in accordance with a schedule reasonably satisfactory to the Developer, then the Developer 
may proceed to mediation under Section 7.04 and subsequently exercise the applicable remedy 
under Section 7.05.  

Section 7.04 Mediation.  In the event the parties to this Agreement cannot, within a 
reasonable time, resolve their dispute pursuant to the procedures described in Sections 7.02 or 
7.03, the parties agree to submit the disputed issue to non-binding mediation. The parties shall 
participate in good faith, but in no event shall they be obligated to pursue mediation that does not 
resolve the issue within seven (7) days after the mediation is initiated or fourteen (14) days after 
mediation is requested. The parties participating in the mediation shall share the costs of the 
mediation equally.  

Section 7.05 Remedies.  

(a) In the event of a determination by the City that the Developer has committed a 
material breach of this Agreement that is not resolved in mediation pursuant to Section 7.04, the 
City may, subject to the provisions of Section 6.02, file suit in a court of competent jurisdiction 
in Fort Bend County, Texas, and seek any relief available at law or in equity, including, but not 
limited to, an action under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act and or termination of this 
Agreement as to the breaching Developer.  

(b) In the event of a determination by a Developer that the City has committed a material 
breach of this Agreement that is not resolved in mediation pursuant to Section 7.04, the 
Developer may file suit in a court of competent jurisdiction in Fort Bend County, Texas, and 
seek any relief available, at law or in equity, including, but not limited to, an action under the 
Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act to enforce compliance with or termination of this 
Agreement.  

ARTICLE VIII 
BINDING AGREEMENT, TERM, AMENDMENT, AND ASSIGNMENT 

 
Section 8.01 Beneficiaries.  This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the 

City and the Developer, their successors and assigns.  In addition to the City and the Developer, 
Designated Mortgagees, and their respective successors or assigns, shall also be deemed 
beneficiaries to this Agreement.  The terms of this Agreement shall constitute covenants running 
with the land comprising the Tract and shall be binding on all future Developers and owners of 



15 

any portion of the Tract, other than Ultimate Consumers.  Notwithstanding the foregoing 
statement, an Ultimate Consumer shall be bound by the Developer's submittal of the annexation 
petition required by Section 4.02, to the extent allowed by law, and shall be bound by the 
Developer's waiver of rights described in Section 6.02. A memorandum of this Agreement, in 
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D, shall be recorded in the County Clerk 
Official Records of Fort Bend County, Texas.  

Section 8.02 Term.  This Agreement shall bind the parties and continue for twenty-five 
(25) years from the date of this Agreement, unless terminated on an earlier date pursuant to 
other provisions or by express written agreement executed by the City and Developer.  Upon the 
expiration of twenty-five (25) years from the date of this Agreement, this Agreement may be 
extended, at the Developer's request and with City Council approval, for successive one-year 
periods.  

Section 8.03 Termination.  In the event this Agreement is terminated as provided in 
this Agreement or is terminated pursuant to other provisions, or is terminated by mutual 
agreement of the parties, the parties shall promptly execute and file of record, in the County 
Clerk Official Records of Fort Bend County, a document confirming the termination of this 
Agreement, and such other documents as may be appropriate to reflect the basis upon which 
such termination occurred.  

Section 8.04 Assignment or Sale.  If the Developer proposes to sell substantially all of 
the Tract, or all of the Tract owned at such time by the Developer, the Developer shall provide 
prior written notice of such sale to the City. Any person who acquires the Tract or any portion 
of the Tract, except for an Ultimate Consumer whose liability is defined in Section 3.07 above, 
shall take the Tract subject to the terms of this Agreement. The terms of this Agreement are 
binding upon Developer, its successors and assigns, as provided in Section 8.01 above. 
Provided, however, the Developer's assignee shall not acquire the rights and obligations of the 
Developer unless the Developer and assignee enter into a written assignment agreement in a 
form satisfactory to the City, and the City agrees in writing to such assignment, which approval 
will not be unreasonably delayed, conditioned or withheld.  Any contract, agreement to sell 
land, or instrument of conveyance of land which is a part of the Tract, other than to an Ultimate 
Consumer, shall recite and incorporate this Agreement as binding on any purchaser or assignee.  

Section 8.05 Transfer of Control of Developer.  The Developer shall promptly notify 
the City in writing prior to any substantial change in ownership or control of that Developer. As 
used herein, the words "substantial change in ownership or control" shall mean a change of 
more than 49% of the stock or equitable ownership of a Developer.  Any contract or agreement 
for the sale, transfer, or assignment of control or ownership of a Developer shall recite and 
incorporate this Agreement as binding on any purchaser, transferee, or assignee.   

ARTICLE IX 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

 
Section 9.01 Notice. The parties contemplate that they will engage in informal 

communications with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement. However, any formal 
notices or other communications ("Notice") required to be given by one party to another by this 



16 

Agreement shall be given in writing addressed to the party to be notified at the address set forth 
below for such party, (a) by delivering the same in person, (b) by depositing the same in the 
United States Mail, certified or registered, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to 
the Party to be notified; (c) by depositing the same with Federal Express or another nationally 
recognized courier service guaranteeing "next day delivery," addressed to the party to be 
notified, or (d) by sending the same by telefax with confirming copy sent by mail. Any notice 
required to be given by a party to a Designated Mortgagee shall be given as provided above at 
the address designated upon the identification of the Designated Mortgagee. Notice deposited in 
the United States mail in the manner herein above described shall be deemed effective from and 
after three (3) days after the date of such deposit. Notice given in any other manner shall be 
effective only if and when received by the party to be notified. For the purposes of notice, the 
addresses of the parties, until changed as provided below, shall be as follows: 

City:   City of Rosenberg 
P.O. Box 32 
Rosenberg, Texas  77471 
Attn: City Manager 
(fax) (832) 595-3311 

 
Developer:  Dry Creek (Houston) ASLI VII, LLC 

c/o Ersa Grae Corporation 
9801 Westheimer, Suite 250 
Houston, Texas  77042 
Attn:  Vahid Tabrizi  

 
District:  Fort Bend County Municipal Utility District No. 184 

c/o Allen Boone Humphries Robinson LLP 
3200 Southwest Freeway, Suite 2600 
Houston, Texas  77027 
Attn:  Jim Boone 
(fax) 713-860-6401 

 
The parties shall have the right from time to time to change their respective addresses, and each 
shall have the right to specify as its address any other address within the United States of 
America by giving at least five (5) days written notice to the other parties. A Designated 
Mortgagee may change its address in the same manner by written notice to all of the parties. If 
any date or any period provided in this Agreement ends on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, 
the applicable period for calculating the notice shall be extended to the first business day 
following such Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday. 

Section 9.02 Time.  Time is of the essence in all things pertaining to the performance of 
this Agreement.  

Section 9.03 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable under present or future laws, then, and in that event, it is the intention of the 
parties hereto that the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected.  



17 

Section 9.04 Waiver.  Any failure by a party hereto to insist upon strict performance by 
the other party of any material provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver thereof 
or of any other provision hereof, and such party shall have the right at any time thereafter to 
insist upon strict performance of any and all of the provisions of this Agreement.  

Section 9.05 Applicable Law and Venue.  The construction and validity of this 
Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas without regard to conflicts of law 
principles. Venue shall be in Fort Bend County, Texas.  

Section 9.06 Reservation of Rights.  To the extent not inconsistent with this Agreement, 
each party reserves all rights, privileges, and immunities under applicable laws.  

Section 9.07 Further Documents.  The parties agree that at any time after execution of 
this Agreement, they will, upon request of another party, execute and deliver such further 
documents and do such further acts and things as the other party may reasonably request in order 
to effectuate the terms of this Agreement. 

Section 9.08 Payment Guarantee. The District will enter into contracts for the 
construction of the Benton Water Line and the A. Meyers Water Line and Developer will 
execute such contracts for the purpose of guaranteeing payments to the contractors thereunder. 

Section 9.09 Incorporation of Exhibits and Other Documents by Reference. All 
Exhibits and other documents attached to or referred to in this Agreement are incorporated herein 
by reference for the purposes set forth in this Agreement. 

Section 9.10 Effect of State and Federal Laws. Notwithstanding any other provision of 
this Agreement, Developer, its successors or assigns, shall comply with all applicable statutes or 
regulations of the United States and the State of Texas, as well as any City ordinances not in 
conflict with this Agreement, and any rules implementing such statutes or regulations.  

Section 9.11 Authority for Execution. The City hereby certifies, represents, and 
warrants that the execution of this Agreement is duly authorized and adopted in conformity with 
the City Charter and City ordinances. The Developer hereby certifies, represents, and warrants 
that the execution of this Agreement is duly authorized and adopted in conformity with the 
articles of incorporation and bylaws or partnership agreements of such entities.  
 

[EXECUTION PAGES FOLLOW] 



 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned parties have executed this Agreement as of 
the _______day of _____________________, 2014.  
 

CITY OF ROSENBERG, TEXAS 
 

 
 
       
 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 
 
 
 
         
CITY SECRETARY CITY ATTORNEY 

 



 

  
DRY CREEK (HOUSTON) ASLI VII, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company 
 
By: Avanti Strategic Land Investors VII, 
L.L.L.P., a Delaware limited liability limited 
partnership, its sole Member 

 
By: Avanti Properties Group II, L.L.L.P., a 
Delaware limited liability limited partnership, its 
Managing General Partner 

 
By: Avanti Management Corporation, a Florida 
corporation, its sole General Partner 
 
 
 
By:        

Andrew Dubill, Vice President 
 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

14 General Plan for Stonecreek Estates 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on a General Plan of Stonecreek Estates, being 502.6 acres of land out of the 
Wiley Martin Survey, A-56, E.P. Everett Survey, A-387, Fort Bend County, Texas. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends approval of the General Plan of Stonecreek Estates. 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
184 (Stonecreek Estates) ETJ N/A 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. General Plan of Stonecreek Estates 
 

APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP 
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

      Executive Director of Community Development 

  X   City Engineer  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The proposed General/Land Plan for Stonecreek Estates consists of 502.6 acres and up to 1,400 single-family 
residential lots.  As discussed in the previous agenda item, the development is located at the southwest corner of 
A. Meyers and Berdette Roads, immediately south of Bridlewood Estates.  It is largely in the Extraterritorial 
Jurisdiction (ETJ), with the exception of the City limits abutting Dry Creek, and in proposed Fort Bend County 
Municipal Utility District No. 184. 
 
It is noted in the plan that all lots will be a minimum of sixty feet (60’) in width, with a minimum average size of 
7,000 square feet and minimum overall size of 6,500 square feet per the current “Subdivision” Ordinance.  There 
will be approximately 349.6 acres of residential development (all single-family) according to the Plan.  The Plan 
also calls for a minimum of 26.3 acres in improved parkland to be set aside (based on 1,400 lots) per City 
ordinance.  Overall there will be 105.5 acres of open space including parks, detention, landscape reserves, etc.  
Finally, the development has two (2) non-residential sites consisting of 17 acres. 
 
From the standpoint of traffic impacts, the developer has submitted a traffic impact analysis (TIA) for the City’s 
review; however, the development will mostly impact County roads.  As discussed in the previous agenda item, 
the development will result in the improvement of A. Meyers Road to a major thoroughfare. as the developer will 
construct one-half of a boulevard section, with the County completing the other one-half as funding becomes 
available.  Additionally, the development proposes internal eighty-foot (80’) collectors street right-of-way.  
Individual plats will be required to comply with the minimum number of access points to a collector. 
 
The proposed Land Plan appears to comply with all applicable standards of the City of Rosenberg related to 
development in the ETJ.  City staff recommends approval of the General/Land Plan for Stonecreek Estates. 
  
 
 



V i c i n i t y   M a p 

N

N T S

STONECREEK

G.P.
ESTATES

Dry Creek

D
ry C

reek

30' Pipeline Esm
t

SF
±32.1 acres

SF
±22.8 acres

SF
±21.2 acres

SF
±20.8 acres

NON-RES.
±14.7 acres

REC
CENTER
±5.1 acres

SF
±28.0 acres

SF
±20.7 acres

SF
±33.1 acres

SF
±57.1 acres

SF
±23.5 acres

WWTP
±4.1 acres

SF
±16.4 acres

NON-RES.
±2.3 acres

DRILL SITE
±2.5 acres

SF
±21.4 acres

SF
±17.4 acres

SF
±19.4 acres

SF
±15.7 acres

DRAINAGE /
DETENTION

±37.7 acres

DRAINAGE
±9.5 acres

DRAINAGE /
DETENTION

±30.3 acres

City Of Ros enbe rg C i ty Limits

City Of Rosenber g Ci ty Limits

Acreage

DRILL SITE
±3.0 acres

Rosenberg  ETJRosenber g  ETJ

60
’

Dry Creek

D
ry C

reek

30' Pipeline Esm
t

SF
±32.1 acres

SF
±22.8 acres

SF
±21.2 acres

SF
±20.8 acres

NON-RES.
±14.7 acres

REC
CENTER
±5.1 acres

SF
±28.0 acres

WILEY MARTIN SURVEY, A-56

WILEY MARTIN SURVEY, A-56

FB
C

M
U

D
 N

o.
15

2

HENRY WILCOX SURVEY, A-342

E.P.
 E

VERETT
 S

URVEY, 
A-38

7

E.P. EVERETT SURVEY, A-387

HENRY W
ILC

OX S
URVEY, 

A-34
2

FT
. B

END C
OUNTY

ROSENBERG E
TJ

FT. BEND COUNTY

ROSENBERG ETJ

FT
. B

EN
D

 C
O

U
N

TY

R
O

SE
N

BE
R

G
 E

TJ

FT
. B

EN
D

 C
O

U
N

TY

R
O

SE
N

BE
R

G
 E

TJ

FT. BEND COUNTY

ROSENBERG ETJ

SF
±20.7 acres

SF
±33.1 acres

SF
±57.1 acres

SF
±23.5 acres

WWTP
±4.1 acres

SF
±16.4 acresPARK

±1.1 acres

60
’

PARK
±1.0 acres

PARK
±1.0 acres

NON-RES.
±2.3 acres

Zone “A/E”/Floodw
ay

Areas of ZO
ne “AE”

DRILL SITE
±2.5 acres

SF
±21.4 acres

SF
±17.4 acres

SF
±19.4 acres

SF
±15.7 acres

DRAINAGE /
DETENTION

±37.7 acres

DRAINAGE
±9.5 acres

DRAINAGE /
DETENTION

±30.3 acres

City Of Ros enbe rg C i ty Limits

City Of Rosenber g Ci ty Limits

Rosenberg  ETJRosenber g  ETJ

Bridlewood
Estates

(Future Bonbrook
Plantation)

(Future Walnut Creek)

Acreage

Acreage

M
ye

rs
 E

sta
te

Ja
m

es
 W

ya
tt

Re
sid

ue
 C

all
ed

 3
76

.1
61

2 
Ac

.

Vo
l.1

93
4,

 P
g.

71
2,

 F.
B.

C.
D.

R.

NYDIA 
MYERS DURAN

Calle
d 2

4.9
524

 Ac.

Vo
l.19

34,
 Pg.7

12,
 F.B

.C.D.R.

E
X

IS
TN

G
 B

E
R

D
E

TT
E

 R
O

A
D

  
(6

0’
 R

.O
.W

.)

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 G
R

A
N

D
 P

A
R

K
W

AY

A. MYERS ROAD (ULTIMATE-120’ R.O.W.)

RICE FIELD ROAD (60’ R.O.W.)

DRILL SITE
±3.0 acres

Zone “A/E”/Floodway
Areas of ZOne “AE”

F. IRBY COBB B TRUST
Residue Called 400.814 Ac.

F.B.C.C.F. No.2006019259

LAND & CONSTRUCTION, LTD.
LENNAR HOMES OF TEXAS

F.B.C.C.F. No.2007013845, 2008017096

Remainder of 792.85 Ac.
BIG CREEK, LTD.

F.B.C.C.F. No.2001123289

Section Three
Slide No’s 1660 A&B
1661 A&B, 1662 A,

F.B.C.P.R.

F. IRBY COBB B TRUST
Residue Called 400.814 Ac.

F.B.C.C.F. No.2006019259

T. W. Davis
Called 607.75 Ac.

Vol.64, Pg.109
D.R.F.B.C.T.

COLLECTOR  R
OAD  (8

0’ R.O.W.)

MAXIMUM NO. OF LOTS : 1,400

S F

N . R .

N . R .

R E C

PA R K

O S

NON-RESIDENTIAL

±2.3 Ac

±14.7 Ac

RECREATION CENTER ±5.1 Ac

SINGLE FAMILY
(MIN.60’ WIDTH, MIN. AVG.SIZE 7,000 S.F.)

(MIN. SIZE 6,500 S.F.)

±349.6 Ac

TOT LOTS/PARK ±3.1 Ac

DRILL SITE/EASEMENT ±5.5 Ac

WWTP SITE ±4.1 Ac

DRAINAGE/DETENTION ±77.5 Ac

OPEN SPACE ±10.2 Ac

SUBTOTAL   ±17.0 Ac

TOTAL PARKLAND REQUIRED = (1,400 LOTS) (3 PERSONS/LOT)(6.25AC.)

TOTAL PARKLAND REQUIRED = 26.3 AC.
TOTAL PARKLAND TO BE PROVIDED = 26.3 AC. (MIN.)
TOTAL PARKLAND REMAINING =    0 AC.

1,000 PERSONS

SUBTOTAL   ±105.5 Ac

SUBTOTAL   ±349.6 Ac

LAND USE SUMMARY

MIN. 10% FEE  =  (1,400 LOTS) ($1,700/LOT)

10

=   $238,000

1,400 LOTS

=  $170/LOT

a   general   plan  of

S TO N E C R E E K
E S TAT E S

B E I N G  ± 5 0 2 . 6  AC R E S  O F  L A N D

JULY 25, 2014
KGA #8612

SCALE

0 600300150

23501 Cinco Ranch Blvd.
Suite A-250

Katy, Texas 77494
(281) 579-0340

Fax (281) 579-8212

Land Planning Consultants

THIS DRAWING IS A PICTORIAL REPRESENTATION FOR PRESENTATION PURPOSES ONLY AND IS 
SUBJECT TO CHANGE.  FURTHER, SAID DRAWING IS A SCANNED IMAGE ONLY AND IS NOT FOR 
COMPUTATION OR CONSTRUCTION PURPOSES.  THIS DRAWING MAY OR MAY NOT 
INCORPORATE INFORMATION AND/OR DATA PROVIDED TO BGE |  KERRY R. GILBERT & 
ASSOCIATES BY OTHER CONSULTANTS RELATIVE TO ENGINEERING AND DRAINAGE, FLOOD 
PLAINS AND ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES AND SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON FOR ANY PURPOSE.  
NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, CONCERNING THE ACTUAL DESIGN, LOCATION, AND 
CHARACTER OF THE FACILITATES SHOWN ON THIS MAP ARE INTENDED.  ADDITIONALLY, NO 
WARRANTY IS MADE TO THE ACCURACY OF THE INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN.

©2014 BGE |  KERRY R. GILBERT & ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

B G E  |  K E R R Y  R .  G I L B E R T  &  A S S O C I A T E S

©2014 BGE | KERRY R. GILBERT & ASSOCIATES, A
ll R

ights R
eserved

B
G

E
 |

 K
E

R
R

Y
 R

. 
G

IL

BERT &
 ASSOCIATES

BGE | KERRY R. G
IL

BERT 
&

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

T
E

S

W I L E Y  M A RT I N  S U RV E Y,  A - 5 6
E . P.  E V E R E T T  S U RV E Y,  A - 3 8 7
FORT BEND COUNTY, TEXAS

OUT of THE

OWNER:

HOUSTON , TX. 77081
6335 GULFTON, SUITE-200

D RY  C R E E K  ( H O U S TO N )  A S L I ,  L L C

HOUSTON, TX. 77042

ENGINEER/SURVEYOR:

9801 WESTHEIMER, SUITE-250

ATTN: CLAYTON BLACK (713) 777-5337

J O N E S  &  C A RT E R ,  I N C .

ATTN: VAHID TABRIZI (713) 627-1015



PLANNING COMMISSION COMMUNICATION 
 
August 20, 2014 
 

ITEM # ITEM TITLE 

15 Staff Report of Current Activities and Requests for Future Agenda Items 
 
MOTION 
 

Consideration of and action on the Staff Report of Current Activities and requests for future agenda items. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 

N/A 
 

MUD # City/ETJ ELECTION DISTRICT 
N/A N/A N/A 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS: 
 

1. Second Quarter Residential Development Report 
 

APPROVAL 

Submitted by:   

 
Travis Tanner, AICP  
Executive Director of Community 
Development 

Reviewed by:   

     City Engineer  

 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The Staff Report of Current Activities consists of projects that staff is currently working on as well as other 
updates that are relevant to the Planning Commission.  This item also allows the Planning Commission the 
opportunity to request that items be placed on future agendas. 
 
As far as updates, on August 5, 2014, City Council approved the Professional Services Agreement for the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan to be updated by Kendig Keast Collaborative.  The Plan was last updated in 1995.  The 
Planning Commission will obviously be involved in this process.  Staff will be providing more information in the 
near future. 
 
Additionally, staff expects to follow up on the previous discussion of masonry standards in the near future.  We 
expect that, as well as the “Parking” Ordinance amendments that were recently discussed, to be on a City 
Council Workshop Agenda in the fall. 
 
Finally, attached for the Planning Commission’s reference is a report on residential development during the 
Second Quarter (April-June) of 2014; 251 house starts occurred in the City and ETJ during this time period.  This 
represents a 39 percent increase compared to this time last year, which was also a period of rapid growth for 
Rosenberg.  Plats were also submitted for 358 new lots.  See the attached report for further details. 
  
 
 



Second Quarter 2014 Single-Family Residential Development 

House Starts: 

City Versus ETJ House Starts 

Jurisdiction House Starts Percent 

City 87 34.7% 

ETJ 164 65.3% 

Total 251 100.0% 

 

 

 

House Starts by MUD/Development 

Jurisdiction MUD Development House Starts Percent 

ETJ 

155 Bonbrook Plantation 37 14.7% 

158 River Run at the Brazos 58 23.1% 

162 Sunrise Meadow 45 17.9% 

152 Walnut Creek 24 9.6% 

City 

N/A Bayou Crossing 25 10.0% 

148 Cottonwood 16 6.4% 

167 The Reserve at Brazos Town Center 13 5.2% 

144 Summer Lakes/Park 31 12.4% 

N/A Other 2 0.8% 

All All All 251 100.0% 





Total House Starts 

Timeframe 2013 2014 

April 57 106 

May 63 68 

June 61 77 

Second Quarter 181 251 

 

 

  



Lots Platted: 

Platting by MUD/Development 

Jurisdiction MUD Development Lots Percent 

City 144 Summer Lakes/Park 233 65.1% 

City n/a Bayou Crossing 37 10.3% 

ETJ 155 Bonbrook Plantation 88 24.6% 

All All All 358 100.0% 

 

 

  



Platting by Lot Width 

Lot Width Lots Percent 

<60' 140 39.1% 

60'+ 218 60.9% 

All 358 100.0% 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 16 
 

Announcements. 
 



 
 
 
 
 

ITEM 17 
 

Adjournment. 
 


	Regular Planning Commission Meeting Agenda 08-20-14
	1 - Minutes
	Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - 06-18-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - 07-16-14

	2 - Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication
	Preliminary Plat of Park Place Boulevard Street Dedication
	Revised Land and Parcel Plan for MUD No. 144 Planned Unit Development - 11-01-11

	3 - Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two
	Preliminary Plat of Rivers Mist Section Two
	Land Plan for Rivers Mist - 05-03-06

	4 - Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B
	Preliminary Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B
	Land Plan for Cottonwood

	5 - Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B
	Final Plat of Cottonwood Section Three-B

	6 - Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three
	Final Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three
	Preliminary Plat of Bayou Crossing Section Three - 06-18-14
	Land Plan for Bayou Crossing
	Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt - 06-18-14

	7 - Final Plat of Bonbrook North Section Eleven
	Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven
	Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Eleven - 01-22-14
	Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation - 09-25-07
	Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt - 01-22-14

	8 - Final Plat of Bonbrook North Section Twelve
	Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve
	Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Twelve - 01-22-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Minute Excerpt - 01-22-14

	9 - Final Plat of Bonbrook North Section Thirteen
	Final Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen
	Preliminary Plat of Bonbrook Plantation North Section Thirteen - 06-18-14
	Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minute Excerpt - 06-18-14

	10 - Presentation on Proposed Multi-Family Planned Unit Development
	Juarez Correspondence - 07-18-14
	Airport Condominiums, A Condominium Development - 07-15-14
	Code Excerpt - Chapter 25, Article III, Division 5, Section 25-113 - Planned Unity Development

	11 - Presentation on Proposed Multi-Family Planned Unit Development
	Sabin Correspondence - 07-23-14
	Presentation - Fountains of Rosenberg Phase II

	12 - Third Revision to Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation
	Exhibit C - Third Revision, a Development Plan for Bonbrook Plantation
	Land Plan for Bonbrook Plantation - 09-25-07

	13 - Development Agreement for Fort Bend County MUD No. 184
	MUD No. 184 Development Agreement without Exhibits 

	14 - General Plan for Stonecreek Estates
	General Plan of Stonecreek Estates

	15 - Staff Report of Current Activities and Requests for Future Agenda Items
	Second Quarter Residential Development Report

	16 - Announcements
	17 - Adjournment



